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ORDER OF REFERENCE ORDRE DE RENVOI

Extract from the Journals of the Senate of Extrait des Journaux du Sénat du mercredi 21 novembre 2007 :

Wednesday, November 21, 2007:

The Honourable Senator Peterson moved, seconded by
the Honourable Senator Tardif:

That the Standing Senate Committee on Aboriginal
Peoples be authorized to examine and report on the
federal government’s constitutional, treaty, political and
legal responsibilities to First Nations, Inuit and Métis
peoples and on other matters generally relating to the
Aboriginal Peoples of Canada; and

That the Committee submit its final report to the Senate
no later than December 31, 2008.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.

L’honorable sénateur Peterson propose, appuyé par
I’honorable sénateur Tardif,

Que le Comité sénatorial permanent des peuples
autochtones soit autorisé a examiner, en vue d’en faire
rapport, les responsabilités constitutionnelles,
conventionnelles, politiques et juridiques du gouvernement
fédéral a 1’égard des Premiéres nations, des Inuits et des
Métis et d’autres questions générales relatives aux peuples
autochtones du Canada;

Que le Comité présente son rapport final au Sénat au plus
tard le 31 décembre 2008.

La motion, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

Le greffier du Sénat,

Paul C. Bélisle

Clerk of the Senate
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MINUTES OF PROCEEDINGS
OTTAWA, Wednesday, November 14, 2007
(1

[English]

The Standing Senate Committee on Aboriginal Peoples met at
6:17 p.m. this day, in room 160-S, Centre Block, for the purpose
of holding its organization meeting, pursuant to rule 88.

Members of the committee present: The Honourable Senators
Dyck, Gustafson, Hubley, Lovelace Nicholas, Peterson,
Sibbeston and St. Germain, P.C. (7).

In attendance: Tonina Simeone and Mary Hurley, analysts,
Parliamentary Information and Research Services, Library of
Parliament.

Also in attendance: The official reporters of the Senate.

Pursuant to rule 88, the clerk of the committee presided over
the election of the chair.

The Honourable Senator Sibbeston moved that the
Honourable Senator St. Germain, P.C., do take the chair of
this committee.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.

The clerk invited Senator St. Germain to take the chair.

The Honourable Senator Peterson moved that the Honourable
Senator Sibbeston be deputy chair of this committee.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.
The Honourable Senator Peterson moved:

That the Subcommittee on Agenda and Procedure be
composed of the chair, the deputy chair, and one other member
of the committee, to be designated after the usual consultation;
and

That the Subcommittee be empowered to make decisions on
behalf of the committee with respect to its agenda, to invite
witnesses, and to schedule hearings.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.
The Honourable Senator Dyck moved:
That the committee print its proceedings; and

That the chair be authorized to set the number to meet
demand.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.
The Honourable Senator Gustafson moved:

That pursuant to rule 89, the chair be authorized to hold
meetings, to receive and authorize the printing of the evidence
when a quorum is not present, provided that a member of the
committee from both the government and the opposition be
present.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.

PROCES-VERBAUX

OTTAWA, le mercredi 14 novembre 2007
(D

[Traduction]

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des peuples autochtones se
réunit aujourd’hui, a 18 h 17, dans la salle 160-S de I’édifice du
Centre, pour tenir sa séance d’organisation, conformément a
l’article 88 du Réglement.

Membres du comité présents : Les honorables sénateurs Dyck,
Gustafson, Hubley, Lovelace Nicholas, Peterson, Sibbeston et
St. Germain, C.P. (7).

Aussi présentes : Tonina Simeone et Mary Hurley, analystes,
Service d’information et de recherche parlementaires,
Bibliothéque du Parlement.

Egalement présents : Les sténographes officiels du Sénat.

Conformément a larticle 88 du Réglement, la greffiére du
comité préside a I’élection d’un président.

L’honorable sénateur Sibbeston propose que 1’honorable
sénateur St. Germain, C.P., assume la présidence du comité.

La question, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

La greffiére invite le sénateur St. Germain a venir prendre
place au fauteuil.

L’honorable sénateur Peterson propose que [’honorable
sénateur Sibbeston soit vice-président du comité.

La question, mise aux voix, est adoptée.
L’honorable sénateur Peterson propose :

Que le Sous-comité du programme et de la procédure soit
composé du président, du vice-président et d’un autre membre du
comité désigné apres les consultations d’usage; et

Que le sous-comité soit autorisé a prendre des décisions au
nom du comité relativement au programme, a inviter les témoins
et a établir 'horaire des audiences.

La question, mise aux voix, est adoptée.
L’honorable sénateur Dyck propose :
Que le comité fasse imprimer ses délibérations; et

Que le président soit autorisé a déterminer le nombre
d’exemplaires a imprimer pour répondre a la demande.

La question, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

L’honorable sénateur Gustafson propose :

Que, conformément a I’article 89 du Réglement, le président
soit autorisé a tenir des réunions pour entendre des témoignages
et a en permettre la publication en ’absence de quorum, pourvu

quun représentant du gouvernement et un représentant de
I’opposition soient présents.

La question, mise aux voix, est adoptée.
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The Honourable Senator Hubley moved:

That the committee adopt the draft first report, prepared in
accordance with rule 104.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.
The Honourable Senator Peterson moved:

That the committee ask the Library of Parliament to assign
analysts to the committee;

That the chair be authorized to seek authority from the Senate
to engage the services of such counsel and technical, clerical, and
other personnel as may be necessary for the purpose of the
committee’s examination and consideration of such bills, subject
matters of bills, and estimates as are referred to it;

That the Subcommittee on Agenda and Procedure be
authorized to retain the services of such experts as may be
required by the work of the committee; and

That the chair, on behalf of the committee, direct the research
staff in the preparation of studies, analyses, summaries, and draft
reports.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.
The Honourable Senator Hubley moved:

That, pursuant to section 32 of the Financial Administration
Act, and section 7, Chapter 3:06 of the Senate Administrative
Rules, authority to commit funds be conferred individually on the
chair, the deputy chair, and the clerk of the committee; and

That, pursuant to section 34 of the Financial Administration
Act, and section 8, Chapter 3:08 of the Senate Administrative
Rules, authority for certifying accounts payable by the committee
be conferred individually on the chair, the deputy chair, and the
clerk of the committee.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.
The Honourable Senator Lovelace Nicholas moved:

That the committee empower the Subcommittee on Agenda
and Procedure to designate, as required, one or more members of
the committee and/or such staff as may be necessary to travel on
assignment on behalf of the committee.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.
The Honourable Senator Sibbeston moved:

That the Subcommittee on Agenda and Procedure be
authorized to:

1) determine whether any member of the committee is on
“official business” for the purposes of paragraph 8(3)(a) of the
Senators Attendance Policy, published in the Journals of the
Senate on Wednesday, June 3, 1998; and

2) consider any member of the committee to be on “official
business” if that member is: (a) attending an event or meeting
related to the work of the committee; or (b) making a presentation
related to the work of the committee.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.

L’honorable sénateur Hubley propose :

Que le comité adopte 1’ébauche du premier rapport, préparée
conformément a l'article 104 du Réglement.

La question, mise aux voix, est adoptée.
L’honorable sénateur Peterson propose :

Que le comité demande a la Bibliothéque du Parlement
d’affecter des attachés de recherche au comité;

Que le président soit autorisé a demander au Sénat la
permission de retenir les services de conseillers juridiques, de
techniciens, d’employés du bureau et d’autres personnes, au
besoin, pour aider le comité a examiner les projets de loi, I’objet
de ces derniers et les prévisions budgétaires qui lui sont renvoyés;

Que le Sous-comité du programme et de la procédure soit
autorisé a faire appel aux services des experts-conseils dont le
comité pourrait avoir besoin dans le cadre de ses travaux; et

Que le président, au nom du comité, dirige le personnel de
recherche dans la préparation d’études, d’analyses, de résumés et
de projets de rapport.

La question, mise aux voix, est adoptée.
L’honorable sénateur Hubley propose :

Que, conformément a larticle 32 de la Loi sur la gestion des
finances publiques, et a Darticle 7, chapitre 3:06, du Reéglement
administratif du Sénat, le pouvoir d’engager les fonds du comité
soit conféré individuellement au président, au vice-président et a
la greffiére du comité; et

Que, conformément a larticle 34 de la Loi sur la gestion des
finances publiques, a Darticle 8, chapitre 3:08, du Réglement
administratif du Sénat, I'autorisation d’approuver les comptes a
payer au nom du comité soit conférée individuellement au
président, au vice-président et a la greffiere du comité.

La question, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

L’honorable sénateur Lovelace Nicholas propose :

Que le comité autorise le Sous-comité du programme et de la
procédure a désigner, au besoin, un ou plusieurs membres du

comité, de méme que le personnel nécessaire, qui se déplaceront
au nom du comité.

La question, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

L’honorable sénateur Sibbeston propose :

Que le Sous-comité du programme et de la procédure soit
autorisé a :

1) déterminer si un membre du comité remplit un « engagement
public » au sens de I’alinéa 8(3)a) de la politique relative a la
présence des sénateurs, publiée dans les Journaux du Sénat du
mercredi 3 juin 1998; et

2) considérer qu’un membre du comité remplit un
« engagement public » si ce membre : a) assiste & une réception,
a une activité ou a une réunion se rapportant aux travaux du
comité; ou b) fait un exposé ayant trait aux travaux du comité.

La question, mise aux voix, est adoptée.
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The Honourable Senator Gustafson moved:

That, pursuant to the Senate guidelines for witness expenses,
the committee may reimburse reasonable traveling and living
expenses for one witness from any one organization and payment
will take place upon application, but that the chair be authorized
to approve expenses for a second witness should there be
exceptional circumstances.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.
The Honourable Senator Hubley moved:

That the chair be authorized to seek permission from the
Senate to permit coverage by electronic media of the committee’s
public proceedings with the least possible disruption of its
hearings; and

That the Subcommittee on Agenda and Procedure be
empowered to allow such coverage at its discretion.

The question being put on the motion, it was adopted.

The chair informed the committee that the regular time slots
for its meetings are Tuesday mornings from 9:30 a.m. to 11 a.m.
and Wednesday evenings from 6:15 p.m. until such time as it has
concluded its business.

At 6:35 p.m., pursuant to rule 92(2)(e), the committee
continued in camera to consider its agenda (future business).

It was agreed that senators’ staff be permitted to attend the in
camera portion of the meeting.

At 7:50 p.m., it was agreed that the committee adjourn to the
call of the chair.

ATTEST:

OTTAWA, Wednesday, November 28, 2007
(2)

[English]

The Standing Senate Committee on Aboriginal Peoples met at
6:17 p.m. this day, in room 160-S, Centre Block, the Chair, the
Honourable Gerry St. Germain P.C., presiding.

Members of the committee present: The Honourable Senators
Dallaire, Gustafson, Hubley, Peterson, Sibbeston and
St. Germain, P.C. (6).

In attendance: Tonina Simeone, analyst, Parliamentary
Information and Research Services, Library of Parliament.

Also in attendance: The official reporters of the Senate.

Pursuant to the order of reference adopted by the Senate on
Wednesday, November 21, 2007, the committee began its
consideration on the federal government’s constitutional, treaty,

L’honorable sénateur Gustafson propose :

Que, conformément aux lignes directrices concernant les frais
de déplacement des témoins, le comité rembourse les dépenses
raisonnables de voyage et d’hébergement a un témoin par
organisme, aprés qu'une demande de remboursement aura été
présentée, et que le président soit autorisé a permettre le
remboursement de dépenses a un deuxiéme témoin de ce méme
organisme en cas de circonstances exceptionnelles.

La question, mise aux voix, est adoptée.
L’honorable sénateur Hubley propose :

Que le président soit autorisé a demander au Sénat la
permission de diffuser les délibérations publiques du comité par
les médias d’information électroniques, de maniére a déranger le
moins possible ses travaux; et

Que le Sous-comité du programme et de la procédure soit
autorisé a permettre cette diffusion a sa discrétion.

La question, mise aux voix, est adoptée.

Le président informe les membres du comité que I'horaire
normal des séances sera les mardis matins, de 9 h 30 a 11 heures,
et les mercredis soirs, de 18 h 15 jusqu’a épuisement de I’ordre du
jour.

A 18 h 35, conformément a I’alinéa 92(2)e) du Réglement, le
comité continue a huis clos pour examiner son programme
(travaux futurs).

Il est convenu que le personnel des sénateurs soit autorisé a
rester dans la salle pendant la séance a huis clos.

A 19 h 30, le comité suspend ses travaux jusqu’a nouvelle
convocation de la présidence.

ATTESTE :

OTTAWA, le mercredi 28 novembre 2007
2

[Traduction)

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des peuples autochtones se
réunit aujourd’hui, a 18 h 17, dans la salle 160-S de I’édifice du
Centre, sous la présidence de I’honorable Gerry St. Germain, C.P.
(président).

Membres du comité présents : Les honorables sénateurs
Dallaire, Gustafson, Hubley, Peterson, Sibbeston et
St. Germain, C.P. (6).

Aussi présente : Tonina Simeone, analyste, Service
d’information et de recherche parlementaires, Bibliothéque du
Parlement.

Egalement présents : Les sténographes officiels du Sénat.

Conformément a l'ordre de renvoi adopté par le Sénat le
mercredi 21 novembre 2007, le comité entreprend son examen des
responsabilités constitutionnelles, conventionnelles, politiques et
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political and legal responsibilities to First Nations, Inuit and
Meétis peoples and on other matters generally relating to the
Aboriginal Peoples of Canada.

WITNESSES:
Indian and Northern Affairs Canada:

Christine Cram, Associate Assistant Deputy Minister, Socio-
economic Policy and Regional Operations Sector;

Marc Brooks, Director General, Community Development
Branch.

Ms. Cram made an opening statement and, together with
Mr. Brooks, answered questions.

At 7:40 p.m., it was agreed that the committee adjourn to the
call of the chair.

ATTEST:

juridiques du gouvernement fédéral a 1’égard des Premieres
nations, des Inuits et des Métis et d’autres questions générales
relatives aux peuples autochtones du Canada.

TEMOINS :
Affaires indiennes et du Nord Canada :

Christine Cram, sous-ministre adjointe déléguée, Secteur des
politiques socioéconomiques et opérations régionales;

Marc Brooks, directeur général, Direction générale du
développement communautaire.

Mme Cram fait une déclaration d’ouverture puis, aidée de
M. Brooks, répond aux questions.

A 19 40, le comité suspend ses travaux jusqu’a nouvelle
convocation de la présidence.

ATTESTE :

La greffiere du comité,

Marcy Zlotnick

Clerk of the Committee
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REPORT OF THE COMMITTEE
Thursday, November 15, 2007

The Standing Senate Committee on Aboriginal Peoples has the
honour to table its

FIRST REPORT

Your Committee, which was authorized by the Senate to incur
expenses for the purpose of its examination and consideration of
such legislation and other matters as were referred to it, reports,
pursuant to Rule 104 of the Rules, that the expenses incurred by
the Committee during the First Session of the Thirty-ninth
Parliament are as follows:

With respect to its examination of legislation:

Professional and other services $ 1,410
Transportation and Communications 0
Other expenditures 0
Witness expenses 1,728
Total $ 3,138

With respect to its special study on the involvement of
Aboriginal communities and businesses in economic
development (authorized by the Senate on November 4, 2004):

Professional and other services $ 25,308
Transportation and Communications 85,582
Other Expenditures 1,722
Witness Expenses 4,664
Total § 117,276

With respect to its special study on specific claims (authorized
by the Senate on May 20, 2006):

Professional and other services $ 1,755
Transportation and Communications 0
Other Expenditures 0
Witness Expenses 12,789
Total $ 14,544

With respect to its special study on safe drinking water for
First Nations communities (authorized by the Senate on
March 29, 2007):

Professional and other services $ 578
Transportation and Communications 0
Other Expenditures 0
Witness Expenses 4,381
Total $ 4,95

RAPPORT DU COMITE
Le jeudi 15 novembre 2007

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des peuples autochtones a
I’honneur de déposer son

PREMIER RAPPORT

Votre comité, qui a été autorisé par le Sénat a engager des
dépenses aux fins d’examiner les mesures législatives et autres
questions qui lui ont été renvoyées, dépose, conformément a
larticle 104 du Reglement, le relevé suivant des dépenses
encourues a cette fin par le comité au cours de la premiere
session de la trente-neuviéme législature :

Relatif a son étude de mesures législatives :

Services professionnels et autres 1410 §
Transport et communications 0
Autres dépenses 0
Dépenses des témoins 1728
Total 31388

En ce qui a trait a son étude spéciale sur la participation des
peuples et entreprises autochtones aux activités de développement
économique (autorisée par le Sénat le 4 novembre 2004) :

Services professionnels et autres 25308 $
Transport et communications 85 582
Autres dépenses 1722
Dépenses des témoins 4 664
Total 117 276 $

En ce qui a trait a son étude spéciale sur des revendications
particuliéres (autorisée par le Sénat le 20 mai 2006) :

Services professionnels et autres 1755'$
Transport et communications 0
Autres dépenses 0
Dépenses des témoins 12 789
Total 14 544 §

En ce qui a trait a son étude spéciale sur la salubrité de I'eau
potable dans les collectivités des Premiéres nations (autorisée par
le Sénat le 29 mars 2007) :

Services professionnels et autres 578 §
Transport et communications 0
Autres dépenses 0
Dépenses des témoins 4 381
Total 4959 §
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The Committee received eight orders of reference from the
Senate during the session in question. Four bills were referred to
the Committee (C-34, C-292, S-6 and S-216). It held 35 meetings
during this period, receiving evidence from 119 witnesses and
submitted 9 reports to the Senate dealing with its work.

Respectfully submitted.

Le comité a regu huit ordres de renvoi au cours de la session
en cause. Il a été saisi de quatre projets de loi (C-34, C-292, S-6 et
S-216). 11 a tenu 35 réunions au cours de cette période, entendu
119 témoins et soumis 9 rapports au Sénat au sujet de ses travaux.

Respectueusement soumis.

Le président,
GERRY ST. GERMAIN
Chair



Aboriginal Peoples

28-11-2007

EVIDENCE
OTTAWA, Wednesday, November 14, 2007

The Standing Senate Committee on Aboriginal Peoples met
this day at 6:17 p.m., pursuant to rule 88 of the Rules of the
Senate for the purpose of holding its organization meeting.

[Translation]

Marcy Zlotnick, Clerk of the Committee: Honourable senators,
I see a quorum. As clerk of the committee, it is my duty to preside
over the election of the Chair.

[English]

I am ready to receive a motion to nominate the chair of the
committee. Are there any nominations?

Senator Sibbeston: Pursuant to rule 88, the clerk of the
committee presides over the election of the chair.

I move that the Honourable Senator St. Germain do take the
chair of this committee.

Ms. Zlotnick: Are there any other nominations? If not, it is
moved by the Honourable Senator Sibbeston that the
Honourable Senator St. Germain do take the chair of this
committee.

Is it your pleasure, honourable senators, to adopt the motion?
Hon. Senators: Agreed.

Ms. Zlotnick: Carried.

I invite the Honourable Senator St. Germain to take the chair.
Senator Gerry St. Germain (Chair) in the chair.

The Chair: Thank you, Senator Sibbeston, and thank you
colleagues, for entrusting me with the chair of what I think is one
of the most interesting committees on Parliament Hill. This
committee has completed some tremendous work over the years
and the work that you have done since I have been given the
privilege of chairing is, I think, coming to fruition. It will be an
exciting time.

Ms. Zlotnick is our new clerk. Welcome to the committee. You
did a great job. You certainly did not have many candidates for
chair. I see we have Jessica Richardson, clerk, and Tonina
Simeone and Mary Hurley, analysts, back with us and, of course,
the people that do all the work and receive little credit, namely,
the people who transcribe what we do here. It is nice to see you
again ladies and you, sir, on the right.

I will continue with the election of a deputy chair.
Senator Peterson: I nominate Senator Sibbeston.

The Chair: It is moved by the Honourable Senator Peterson
that the Honourable Senator Nick Sibbeston be deputy chair of
the committee.

TEMOIGNAGES
OTTAWA, le mercredi 14 novembre 2007

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des peuples autochtones se
réunit aujourd’hui a 18 h 17, conformément a I’article 88 du
Réglement du Sénat, pour tenir sa séance d’organisation.

[Frangais]

Marcy Zlotnick, greffiére du comité : Honorables sénateurs, je
vois un quorum. En tant que greffiere du comité, il est de mon
devoir de présider a I’élection a la présidence.

[Traduction]

Je suis préte a recevoir une motion pour le poste de président
du comité. Avez-vous des candidats a proposer?

Le sénateur Sibbeston : Conformément a 1article 88 du
Réglement, la greffiere du comité préside a 1’élection a la

présidence.

Je propose que ’honorable sénateur St. Germain soit président
du comité.

Mme Zlotnick : Y a-t-il d’autres candidatures? Autrement, il
est proposé par I’honorable sénateur Sibbeston que 1’honorable
sénateur St. Germain soit président du comité.

Vous plait-il, honorables sénateurs, d’adopter la motion?

Des voix : D’accord.

Mme Zlotnick : Adopté.

J’invite I’honorable sénateur St. Germain a prendre le fauteuil.
Le sénateur Gerry St. Germain (président) occupe le fauteuil.

Le président : Merci, sénateur Sibbeston, et merci a vous, chers
collégues, de m’avoir confié la présidence de notre comité qui est,
selon moi, I'un des plus intéressants sur la colline parlementaire.
Notre comité a accompli un travail remarquable au cours des
années, et je crois que nous commengons a recueillir les fruits du
travail que nous avons réalisé depuis qu’on m’a donné le privilege
d’occuper le fauteuil. Nous entrons dans une période excitante.

Mme Zlotnick est notre nouvelle greffiére. Bienvenue au
comité. Vous avez fait un excellent travail. En tout cas, vous
n’aviez pas beaucoup de candidats a la présidence. Je vois que
nous avons de nouveau Jessica Richardson, greffiére, ainsi que
Tonina Simeone et Mary Hurley, deux analystes et, bien sir, les
gens qui font tout le travail et regoivent peu de crédit, c’est-a-dire
les sténographes qui transcrivent nos délibérations. Je suis
heureux de vous retrouver mesdames et vous, monsieur, a la
droite.

Je vais passer maintenant a I’élection d’un vice-président.
Le sénateur Peterson : Je propose le sénateur Sibbeston.

Le président : Il est proposé par I’honorable sénateur Peterson
que I'honorable sénateur Nick Sibbeston soit vice-président du
comité.
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All those in favour?
Hon. Senators: Agreed.
The Chair: Carried.

Next is the Subcommittee on Agenda and Procedure. I need a
motion that the Subcommittee on Agenda and Procedure be
composed of the chair, deputy chair and one other member of the
committee to be designated after the usual consultation; and that
the subcommittee be empowered to make decisions on behalf of
the committee with respect to its agenda and to invite witnesses
and to schedule hearings.

This subcommittee is the steering committee. Do we have a
motion to that effect?

Senator Peterson: I so move.
The Chair: Do we need a name here?

Senator Sibbeston: It is not unconventional to talk about it and
see who it may be.

The Chair: It gives us more flexibility, apparently. We can talk
about this. Senator Hubley, I think, has shown some interest.

Senator Hubley: Yes.

The Chair: We will leave it at that and carry on. Are you okay
with that?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.
The Chair: Agreed?
Senator Hubley: Yes, agreed.

The Chair: Item 4 is the motion to print the committee’s
proceedings.

It is moved by the Honourable Senator Dyck that the
committee print its proceedings and that the chair be authorized
to set the number to meet the demand.

All in favour?
Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chair: Item 5 is authorization to hold meetings and to
print evidence when quorum is not present.

It is moved by the Honourable Senator Gustafson that,
pursuant to rule 89, the chair be authorized to hold meetings, to
receive and authorize printings of the evidence when a quorum is
not present, provided that a member of the committee from both
the government and the opposition be present.

Are we all agreed?
Hon. Senators: Agreed.
The Chair: Item 6 is the financial report.

It is moved by the Honourable Senator Hubley that the
committee adopt and draft the first report, prepared in
accordance with rule 104.

Etes-vous d’accord?
Des voix : D’accord.
Le président : Adopté.

Le point suivant concerne le Sous-comité du programme et de
la procédure. J’ai besoin d’'une motion pour que le sous-comité
soit composé du président, du vice-président et d’un autre
membre du comité désigné aprés les consultations d’usage; et
pour que le sous-comité soit autorisé a prendre des décisions au
nom du comité relativement au programme, a inviter les témoins
et a établir 'horaire des audiences.

Le sous-comité est notre comité de direction. Avons-nous une
motion a cet effet?

Le sénateur Peterson : J’en fais la proposition.
Le président : Devons-nous proposer un candidat maintenant?

Le sénateur Sibbeston : Il n’est pas rare d’en parler pour
déterminer les candidats potentiels.

Le président : Cela nous donne apparemment plus de flexibilité.
Nous pouvons en discuter. Le sénateur Hubley, je crois, a
manifesté un certain intérét.

Le sénateur Hubley : Oui.

Le président : Tenons-nous-en a cela et passons au point
suivant. Est-ce que cela vous convient?

Des voix : D’accord.
Le président : Etes-vous d’accord?
Le sénateur Hubley : Oui, d’accord.

Le président : Le point n° 4 concerne la motion sur
I'impression des délibérations du comité.

Il est proposé par I’honorable sénateur Dyck que le comité
fasse imprimer ses délibérations et que la présidence soit autorisée
a fixer la quantité en fonction des besoins.

Etes-vous d’accord?
Des voix : D’accord.

Le président : Le point n® 5 concerne I'autorisation a tenir des
réunions et 'impression des témoignages en I’absence de quorum.

Il est proposé par I’honorable sénateur Gustafson que,
conformément a Particle 89 du Reéglement, la présidence soit
autorisée a tenir des réunions pour entendre des témoignages et a
en permettre la publication en ’absence de quorum, pourvu qu'un
membre du comité du gouvernement et de 1’opposition soient
présents.

Btes-vous d’accord?
Des voix : D’accord.
Le président : Le point n® 6 porte sur le rapport financier.

Il est proposé par I’honorable sénateur Hubley que le comité
adopte I’ébauche du premier rapport, préparé conformément a
larticle 104 du Reéglement.
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Senator Sibbeston: I need to know what that is. There is a first
draft here.

The Chair: This first draft is for the bare minimum expenses
that will be incurred by the committee. These expenses were
incurred last session?

Senator Sibbeston: That is right.

The Chair: Are there any questions or comments about the
document that is before us, the first report?

Senator Peterson: Did we start off with a budget? Did we try to
determine how much we might spend, and this is what we did
spend? Do we ever do references, budget to actual?

The Chair: There would have been a budget. These expenses
are the actual ones. This money was actually spent in the first
session.

Senator Peterson: How did we do against budget? Do we have
a budget figure for this money?

Senator Sibbeston: This item will be an order of business
perhaps at some future meeting when we know the work we are
trying to undertake.

Senator Peterson: I know that.

The Chair: We established a budget, and Senator Peterson is
wondering how this report reflects with the original budget that
was set out. I do not have that information for you at the
moment, but I will make it available to you, Senator Peterson,
and to the rest of the members of the committee, so that we know
whether we operated within budget. I am sure we did, if I recall
correctly. In any case, we will make that information available to
the members of the committee.

The financial report is moved by Honourable Senator Hubley.
Agreed?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.
The Chair: Item 7 is research staff.

It is moved by the Honourable Senator Peterson that the
committee ask the Library of Parliament to assign analysts to the
committee and that the chair be authorized to seek authority from
the Senate to engage the services of such counsel, technical,
clerical and other personnel as may be necessary for the purpose
of the committee’s examination and consideration of such bills,
subject matters of bills and estimates as are referred to it; that the
Subcommittee on Agenda and Procedure be authorized to retain
the services of such experts as may be required by the work of the
committee; and that the chair, on behalf of the committee, direct
the research staff in the preparation of studies, analyses,
summaries and draft reports.

This item is the requisition. Everyone is in favour?

Le sénateur Sibbeston : Je dois savoir de quoi il s’agit. On nous
a remis une premiére ébauche.

Le président : Cette premiére ébauche fait état des dépenses
minimales de base qui seront engagées par le comité. Ces dépenses
ont-elles été engagées au cours de la derniére session?

Le sénateur Sibbeston : Oui.

Le président : Y a-t-il des questions ou des commentaires sur le
document que nous avons sous les yeux, c’est-a-dire le premier
rapport?

Le sénateur Peterson : Avons-nous commencé par un budget?
Avons-nous essayé de déterminer combien nous pouvions
dépenser et combien nous avons réellement dépensé? Faisons-
nous des renvois, c’est-a-dire les dépenses prévues au budget par
rapport aux dépenses réelles?

Le président : I1 y aurait eu un budget. Ces montants désignent
les dépenses réelles. Cette somme a réellement été dépensée au
cours de la premiére session.

Le sénateur Peterson : Comment nous en sommes-nous tirés
par rapport au budget? Avons-nous un montant prévu au budget
pour cette somme?

Le sénateur Sibbeston : Ce point sera peut-étre a I'ordre du jour
d'une réunion ultérieure, lorsque nous aurons déterminé les
travaux que nous voulons entreprendre.

Le sénateur Peterson : Je le sais.

Le président : Nous avons établi un budget et le sénateur
Peterson veut savoir comment ce rapport tient compte du budget
initial. Je n’ai pas cette information pour l'instant, mais je la
mettrai a votre disposition, sénateur Peterson et a celle des autres
membres du comité, pour que nous sachions si nous avons
respecté le budget. Je suis siir que nous I'avons fait, si je me
souviens bien. Quoi qu’il en soit, nous mettrons cette information
a votre disposition.

Le rapport financier est proposé par I’honorable sénateur
Hubley. Etes-vous d’accord?

Des voix : D’accord.

Le président : Le point n® 7 porte sur le personnel de
recherche.

Il est proposé par ’honorable sénateur Peterson que le comité
demande a la Bibliothéque du Parlement d’affecter des analystes
au comité et que la présidence soit autorisée a demander au Sénat
la permission de retenir les services de conseillers juridiques, de
personnel technique, d’employés de bureau et d’autres personnes
au besoin, pour aider le comité a examiner les projets de loi, la
teneur de ces derniers et les prévisions budgétaires qui lui sont
renvoyés; que le Sous-comité du programme et de la procédure
soit autorisé a faire appel aux services d’experts-conseils dont le
comité peut avoir besoin dans le cadre de ses travaux; et que la
présidence, au nom du comité, dirige le personnel de recherche
dans la préparation d’études, d’analyses, de résumés et de projets
de rapport.

Ce point concerne la requéte. Etes-vous d’accord?
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Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chair: Item 8 is the authority to commit funds and certify
accounts.

It is moved by the Honourable Senator Hubley that, pursuant
to section 32 of the Financial Administration Act and section 7,
chapter 3:06 of the Senate Administrative Rules, authority to
commit funds be conferred individually on the chair, the deputy
chair and the clerk of the committee; and that, pursuant to
section 34 of the Financial Administration Act and section 8§,
chapter 3:06 of the Senate Administrative Rules, authority for
certifying accounts payable by the committee be conferred
individually on the chair, the deputy chair and the clerk of the
committee.

Are there any questions or comments? If not, do I have
agreement?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

13 ”»

Senator Gustafson: My name is spelled with “s-o-n,” not

“t-O-n.”
The Chair: Where did you see that?

Senator Peterson: On the front, organizational meeting.

The Chair: Item 9: it is moved by the Honourable Senator
Lovelace Nicholas that the committee empower the
Subcommittee on Agenda and Procedure to designate, as
required, one or more members of the committee and/or such
staff as may be necessary to travel on assignment on behalf of the
committee.

Are there questions or comments? All agreed?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chair: Item 10 is the designation of members travelling on
committee business.

It is moved by the Honourable Senator Sibbeston that the
Subcommittee on Agenda and Procedure be authorized to
determine whether any member of the committee is on official
business for the purposes of paragraph 8(3)(a) of the Senators
Attendance Policy published in the Journals of the Senate on
Wednesday, June 3, 1998; and consider any member of the
committee to be on official business if that member is:
(a) attending an event or meeting related to the work of the
committee; or (b) making a presentation related to the work of the
committee.

This item is authorization to travel and be marked as present in
the Senate. Are there questions or comments?

Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chair: Item 11 is travelling and living expenses of
witnesses.

Des voix : D’accord.

Le président : Au point n°® 8, nous avons l'autorisation
d’engager des fonds et d’approuver les comptes a payer.

Il est proposé par I’honorable sénateur Hubley que,
conformément a I’article 32 de la Loi sur la gestion des finances
publiques et a ’article 7, chapitre 3:06 du Reéglement administratif
du Sénat, l'autorisation d’engager des fonds du comité soit
conférée individuellement au président, au vice-président et au
greffier du comité; et que, conformément a I’article 34 de la Loi
sur la gestion des finances publiques et a I’article 8, chapitre 3:06
du Reéglement administratif du Sénat, I'autorisation d’approuver
les comptes a payer au nom du comité soit conférée
individuellement au président, au vice-président et au greffier du
comité.

Avez-vous des questions ou des commentaires? Sinon, étes-
vous d’accord?

Des voix : D’accord.

Le sénateur Gustafson : Mon nom s’écrit avec « s-o-n » a la fin
et non « t-o-n ».

Le président : Ou avez-vous vu cela?

Le sénateur Peterson: A la premiére page de la séance
d’organisation.

Le président : Passons au point n° 9 : il est proposé par
I’honorable sénateur Lovelace Nicholas que le comité autorise le
Sous-comité du programme et de la procédure a désigner, au
besoin, un ou plusieurs membres du comité, de méme que le
personnel nécessaire, qui se déplaceront au nom du comité.

Y a-t-il des questions ou des commentaires? Etes-vous
d’accord?

Des voix : D’accord.

Le président : Le point n° 10 concerne la désignation des
membres qui voyagent pour les affaires du comité.

11 est proposé par ’honorable sénateur Sibbeston que le Sous-
comité du programme et de la procédure soit autorisé a
déterminer si un membre du comité remplit un « engagement
officiel » au sens de I’alinéa 8(3)a) de la politique relative a la
présence des sénateurs, publiée dans les Journaux du Sénat du
mercredi 3 juin 1998; et considérer qu'un membre du comité
remplit un « engagement officiel » si ce membre : a) assiste a une
activité ou a une réunion se rapportant aux travaux du comité; ou
b) fait un exposé ayant trait aux travaux du comité.

Ce point concerne l'autorisation de voyager, tout en étant
déclaré présent au Sénat. Y a-t-il des questions ou des
commentaires?

Des voix : D’accord.

Le président : Le point n°® 11 porte sur les frais de déplacement
des témoins.
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It is moved by the Honourable Senator Gustafson that,
pursuant to the Senate guidelines for witness expenses, the
committee may reimburse reasonable travelling and living
expenses for one witness from any one organization and
payment will take place upon application, but that the chair be
authorized to approve expenses for a second witness should there
be exceptional circumstances.

It is fairly straightforward. Are we in agreement?
Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chair: Item 12 is electronic media coverage of public
meetings.

It is moved by the Honourable Senator Hubley that the chair
be authorized to seek permission from the Senate to permit
coverage by electronic media of the committee’s public
proceedings with the least possible disruption of its hearings;
and that the Subcommittee on Agenda and Procedure be
empowered to allow such coverage at its discretion.

Are there any other questions? Are we in agreement?
Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The Chair: Item 13 is the time slot for regular meetings. This
item is not a motion.

This item is more for information, colleagues. We meet on
Tuesday, 9:30 a.m. to 11:30 a.m. in this room and on Wednesdays
at 6:15 p.m. until we conclude our business. Are there any
questions or comments?

Senator Peterson: Is that time the same as last year?

The Chair: Yes, it is the same time. Did we not start at nine?

Senator Gustafson: The Agriculture Committee is at the same
time.

The Chair: That was years ago that we were here at nine. It is
9:30 a.m. to 11 a.m. on Tuesdays, and Wednesdays at 6:15 p.m.
until we leave the facility.

Other business is next. Do we have anything else that you
would like, Madam Clerk? If not, I would like to talk about future
business. Do you want to discuss this item in camera, or would
you like it recorded? I think it would be good if we held it in
camera and we asked the staff to remain. Are you all right with
that?

Senator Sibbeston: There should be a motion and I do not mind

making a motion to that effect.

The Chair: So moved by Senator Sibbeston that we move to an
in camera session for the discussion of future business and we ask
the staff to remain on site. Anyone else must take their leave.

Il est proposé par I’honorable sénateur Gustafson que,
conformément aux lignes directrices du Sénat gouvernant les
frais de déplacement des témoins, le comité puisse rembourser les
dépenses raisonnables de voyage et d’hébergement a un témoin
par organisme, aprés qu’une demande de remboursement ait été
présentée, mais que la présidence soit autorisée a permettre le
remboursement de dépenses pour un deuxiéme témoin du méme
organisme s’il y a des circonstances exceptionnelles.

C’est assez explicite. Etes-vous d’accord?
Des voix : D’accord.

Le président : Le point n°® 12 porte sur la diffusion des
délibérations publiques par médias d’information électronique.

Il est proposé par I’honorable sénateur Hubley que la
présidence soit autorisée a demander au Sénat la permission de
diffuser les délibérations publiques du comité par les médias
d’information électroniques, de maniére a déranger le moins
possible ses travaux; et que le Sous-comité du programme et de la
procédure soit autorisé de permettre cette diffusion a sa
discrétion.

Y a-t-il d’autres questions? Etes-vous d’accord?
Des voix : D’accord.

Le président : Le point n° 13 concerne I'horaire des séances
réguliéres. Ce point n’est pas une motion.

C’est a titre d’information, chers collégues. Nos réunions
auront lieu les mardis, de 9 h 30 a 11 h 30 dans cette piece et les
mercredis a 18 h 15 jusqu’a ce que nous terminions nos travaux. Y
a-t-il des questions ou des commentaires?

Le sénateur Peterson : Est-ce le méme horaire que celui de
I’année derniére?

Le président : Oui, c’est le méme. Ne commencions-nous pas a
9 heures?

Le sénateur Gustafson : Le Comité de I’agriculture siége en
méme temps.

Le président : I1 y a des années, nous commencions a 9 heures.
Maintenant, c’est les mardis de 9 h 30 a 11 heures et les mercredis
de 18 h 15 jusqu’a notre départ.

Le point suivant a I'ordre du jour concerne les autres travaux
du comité. Avez-vous quelque chose a ajouter, madame la
greffiére? Sinon, j’aimerais parler de nos travaux futurs. Voulez-
vous qu’on en discute a huis clos ou de fagon publique? Je crois
qu’il serait bon d’en discuter a huis clos et de demander au
personnel de rester. Est-ce que cela vous convient?

Le sénateur Sibbeston : Quelqu’un devrait déposer une motion
a cet effet, et cela ne me dérange pas de le faire.

Le président : 11 est proposé par le sénateur Sibbeston que nous
poursuivions la séance a huis clos pour discuter des travaux futurs
et que nous demandions au personnel de rester sur place. Les
autres personnes doivent se retirer.
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Are we all agreed to that?
Hon. Senators: Agreed.

The committee continued in camera.

OTTAWA, Wednesday, November 28, 2007

The Standing Senate Committee on Aboriginal Peoples met
this day at 6:17 p.m. to examine and report upon the federal
government’s constitutional, treaty, political and legal
responsibilities to First Nations, Inuit and Metis peoples and on
other matters generally relating to the Aboriginal peoples of
Canada.

Senator Gerry St. Germain (Chair) in the chair.

[English]

The Chair: Honourable senators, as this is one of our first
meetings, I will go around the room. From the eastern part of the
country, we have Senator Hubley; from the North, Senator
Sibbeston; and I would like to welcome Senator Dallaire to the
committee. Senator Dallaire is a great addition and brings a
wealth of knowledge in dealing with people in areas of distress.
We look forward to your input, senator, and welcome to the
team. We work as a team, and if you would like to say anything,
do not sit there and ponder whether you should; do it. We try to
operate in a non-partisan fashion. It is not about us; it is about
the First Nations, the constituency we are trying to assist and
work with.

Senator Dallaire: Thank you very much; I am honoured. I
asked to join this committee and I am honoured that I have
permitted me to join. I am also humbled by the enormous task we
have in front of us with our work for Aboriginal peoples. I look
forward to being useful to the committee.

The Chair: Thank you. This evening, we have Senator
Gustafson and Senator Peterson, both from Saskatchewan.

Senator Gustafson: Home of the Rough Riders.

The Chair: Honourable senators, this evening we did a study,
as most of you know, on safe drinking water for First Nations.
Senator Dallaire, I do not know if you have had the opportunity
to see this report, but this committee felt this report should be
done to monitor where we stand based on the disastrous
situations in some of the First Nations communities. As a result
of this report and discussions of the committee, it was decided
that we would call witnesses from Indian and Northern Affairs
Canada. Tonight we are honoured to have with us Ms. Christine
Cram and Mr. Marc Brooks.

Christine Cram, Associate Assistant Deputy Minister, Socio-
economic Policy and Regional Operations Sector, Indian and
Northern Affairs Canada: Honourable senators, good evening to
you all. Thank you very much for the opportunity to do a follow-
up appearance before you. Mr. Brooks and I were here last May,

Etes-vous d’accord?
Des voix : D’accord.

La séance se poursuit a huis clos.

OTTAWA, le 28 novembre 2007

Le Comité sénatorial permanent des peuples autochtones se
réunit aujourd’hui, a 18 h 17, pour examiner, en vue d’en faire
rapport, les responsabilités constitutionnelles, conventionnelles,
politiques et juridiques du gouvernement fédéral a 1’égard des
Premiéres nations, des Inuits et des Métis et d’autres questions
générales relatives aux peuples autochtones du Canada.

Le sénateur Gerry St. Germain (président) occupe le fauteuil.

[Traduction)

Le président : Honorables sénateurs, étant donné que cette
séance est I'une de nos premiéres, je vais présenter les membres du
comité. Le sénateur Hubley, qui vient des Maritimes; le sénateur
Sibbeston, qui vient du Nord; et le sénateur Dallaire, a qui je
souhaite la bienvenue au comité. Le sénateur Dallaire est un atout
pour nous, car il posséde une vaste expérience des populations en
situation de détresse. Nous nous réjouissons a I’avance de votre
contribution. Nous formons une équipe. Si vous avez quelque
chose a dire, n’hésitez surtout pas a le faire. Nous essayons de
laisser nos idées partisanes de coté. Nous ne travaillons pas pour
nous, mais bien pour les Premiéres nations, a qui nous essayons
d’offrir aide et collaboration.

Le sénateur Dallaire : Merci beaucoup. Je suis trés honoré.
Javais demandé de faire partie du comité et je suis heureux
d’avoir été accepté. C’est avec un sentiment d’humilité que je
constate I’énorme tache que nous devons accomplir pour aider les
peuples autochtones. J’espére étre utile au comité.

Le président : Merci. Ce soir, nous avons avec nous le sénateur
Gustafson et le sénateur Peterson, qui viennent tous les deux de la
Saskatchewan.

Le sénateur Gustafson : La province des Rough Riders.

Le président : Honorables sénateurs, ce soir, nous revenons sur
I’étude que nous avons faite, comme la plupart d’entre vous le
savent, au sujet de I'approvisionnement en eau potable sécuritaire
pour les Premiéres nations. Sénateur Dallaire, je ne sais pas si
vous avez pu prendre connaissance de notre rapport la-dessus,
mais notre comité a jugé qu’il était nécessaire afin d’indiquer
notre position sur la situation désastreuse qui existe dans certaines
communautés des Premiéres nations. A la suite du rapport et de
nos discussions, nous avons décidé de convoquer des témoins
d’Affaires indiennes et du Nord Canada. Nous sommes heureux
d’accueillir ce soir Mme Christine Cram et M. Marc Brooks.

Christine Cram, sous-ministre adjointe déléguée, Secteur des
Politiques socioéconomiques et des opérations régionales, Affaires
indiennes et du Nord Canada : Bonsoir a vous tous, honorables
sénateurs. Je vous remercie de me donner 'occasion de donner
suite a la présentation que M. Brooks et moi-méme avons faite
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prior to you producing your report on the issue of water quality
on First Nation reserves and we are pleased to be before you once
more.

As 2007 comes to an end, First Nation water-related challenges
remain of great importance to the Government of Canada and
Canadians. In the Speech from the Throne, the government
committed itself to implementing a new water strategy to improve
access to safe drinking water for First Nations. The government is
persisting in its efforts to address the many serious issues
surrounding drinking water quality on First Nation reserve.

[Translation]

The government has taken note of this committee’s report on
safe drinking water for First Nations that was completed in
May of this year. The report provided a succinct summation of
some of the core challenges in this area and further provided
several suggestions to help ameliorate the current situation. These
suggestions were concise and useful.

[English]

While T intend to speak to the findings in your report, I also
want to talk about the Government of Canada’s approach to
address some of the challenges identified by the committee. |
would like to begin by providing a brief update on safe drinking
water activities over the past six months, as well as by highlighting
some positive accomplishments.

First, the Government of Canada and Health Canada continue
to move forward with multiple initiatives to assist First Nation
communities in protecting drinking water quality on reserves. In
addition to ongoing implementation of the First Nations Water
Management Strategy, the department continues to implement
the 2006 Plan of Action and the Protocol for Safe Drinking Water
in First Nation communities. These initiatives have helped
generate progress in a number of key areas including a
reduction in the number of high-risk water treatment systems
across Canada, an increase in the number of certified First Nation
water treatment plant operators, as well as the provision of
critical oversight and monitoring through what is known as the
Safe Water Operators Program (SWOP). Additionally, there is a
1-800 hotline that has been set up to assist on reserve water
treatment plant operators. I would like to note that another
progress report on plan of action is being prepared and this report
will highlight more specifically the progress achieved in the above-
noted areas.

Of further note are the success stories to which INAC has been
witness in recent months. For example, in August of this year, a
Manitoba First Nation community experienced a risk to the
qualities of its drinking water due to vandalism. This led to the
release of formazin and other unknown chemicals into the water
reservoir. A do not consume order was immediately put in place
due to the operator’s recommendation, and bottled water was
immediately provided by INAC to the community. As a result

en mai dernier sur la qualit¢é de I’ecau dans les réserves des
Premiéres nations.

Alors que ’année 2007 tire a sa fin, les défis relatifs a ’eau des
Premiéres nations demeurent d’une grande importance pour le
gouvernement du Canada et les Canadiens. Dans son discours du
Trone, le gouvernement s’est engagé a mettre en ceuvre une
nouvelle stratégie visant a améliorer I’approvisionnement en eau
potable pour les Premiéres nations. Le gouvernement poursuivra
ses efforts en vue de régler les nombreux problémes concernant la
qualité de I’eau potable dans les réserves des Premiéres nations.

[Frangais]

Le gouvernement a pris note du rapport du comité sur
I’approvisionnement en eau potable sécuritaire pour les
Premiéres nations complété en mai de I'année courante. Ce
rapport présente un compte rendu succinct de certains des
principaux défis a relever dans ce domaine, ainsi que plusieurs
suggestions concises et utiles en vue d’améliorer la situation
actuelle.

[Traduction)

Jai l'intention de parler des conclusions du rapport ainsi que
de I’'approche du gouvernement du Canada pour surmonter
certains des défis relevés par le comité, mais j’aimerais d’abord
faire le point sur les activités d’amélioration de la qualité de I’eau
potable qui ont été menées au cours des six derniers mois, ainsi
que souligner certains des progrés qui ont été réalisés.

Tout d’abord, le gouvernement du Canada, par I’entremise de
Santé Canada, poursuit ses nombreuses initiatives visant a aider
les collectivités des Premiéres nations a assurer la qualité de I'eau
potable dans les réserves. En plus de poursuivre la mise en ceuvre
de sa Stratégie de gestion de I’eau des Premiéres nations, le
ministére s’emploie également a mettre en ceuvre le Plan d’action
2006 et le Protocole pour la salubrité de 1’eau potable dans les
communautés des Premiéres nations. Grace a ces initiatives, des
progrés ont été réalisés dans certains domaines clés, ce qui
comprend une réduction du nombre de systémes de traitement
d’eau a risque élevé au Canada, une augmentation du nombre
d’opérateurs autochtones certifiés exploitant les usines de
traitement des eaux, ainsi que des activités critiques de
surveillance et de contrdle dans le cadre du Programme des
opérations de la salubrité de ’eau (POSE) et une ligne d’assistance
1-800 qui a été établie pour aider les opérateurs d’usines de
traitement de ’eau dans les réserves. J’aimerais faire remarquer
qu'un autre rapport d’étape sur le plan d’action est en
préparation. Ce rapport soulignera, plus particulierement, les
progres qui ont été réalisés dans les domaines susmentionnés.

De belles réussites ont également été observées par AINC au
cours des derniers mois. Par exemple, en aoidt dernier, la qualité
de I’eau potable d’'une communauté des Premiéres nations du
Manitoba a été menacée en raison d’actes de vandalisme qui ont
mené a une fuite de formazine et d’un autre produit chimique
inconnu dans le réservoir d’eau. Immédiatement, un avis de non-
consommation a été émis, sur la recommandation de I'opérateur,
et de l'eau en bouteille a été fournie par AINC. Grace
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of the training received from the Circuit Rider Training Program,
the First Nation water treatment operators were able to drain,
clean, disinfect and flush the system. They went to all the
residences in the community, showing community members how
to flush their water lines. As a result, the do-not-consume order
was lifted within three days.

[Translation)

In Manitoba, a First Nation community experienced a
drinking water quality advisory due to a malfunctioning
chlorinator. A replacement chlorinator was installed the next
day and the treatment plant operator monitored the chlorine
levels at the plant and on the distribution lines. The
environmental health officer was contacted, as well as the
community-based water monitor who verified the water
samples, and the drinking water advisory was lifted shortly
thereafter. This is a good example of how the chain of
communication was used effectively, thereby preventing a
water-related crisis through the use of Indian and Northern
Affairs Canada’s multi-barrier approach.

[English]

These are just two of several good-news stories that are
beginning to emerge. They demonstrate that the actions of the
department in collaboration with its First Nation partners are
generating results.

This past May, this committee issued a final report on safe
drinking water for First Nations. The report has been reviewed by
INAC officials with great interest. The department took note of
the two major recommendations contained within the report,
namely: The recommendation to conduct an audit of water
systems and independent needs assessment of both the physical
assets and human resource needs of individual First Nation
communities in relation to the delivery of safe drinking water
prior to March 2008; and the need for a comprehensive
consultation process with First Nation communities and
organizations regarding legislative options to provide standards
for water quality on reserve.

In terms of the first recommendation, work is currently
underway to finalize the terms of reference for an independent
engineering assessment of all water and wastewater systems in
First Nation communities. The specific objects of assessment
include: On a priority basis, conduct an assessment of public and
private water and wastewater systems and associated operational
practices in First Nation communities; identify the level of risk
associated with each public system; and make recommendations
on operational and physical improvements needed to mitigate
health and safety risk.

a la formation offerte par le Programme de formation itinérante,
les opérateurs autochtones des usines de traitement de I’eau ont
¢été en mesure de purger, de nettoyer, de désinfecter et de rincer le
systéme. Ils se sont rendus dans toutes les résidences de la
communauté pour montrer aux gens comment purger leurs
conduites d’eau. Par conséquent, I’avis de non-consommation a
été levé en moins de trois jours.

[Frangais)

Au Manitoba, une collectivité des Premiéres nations a été aux
prises avec un avis concernant la qualité de I’eau en raison d’un
injecteur de chlore défectueux. Un injecteur de chlore de rechange
a ¢été installé le jour suivant et les opérateurs de l'usine de
traitement ont surveillé les niveaux de chlore a 'usine et dans les
canalisations de distribution. L’agent d’hygiéne du milieu a été
appelé sur les lieux, de méme que le contréleur de I’eau de la
collectivité, qui a vérifié les échantillons de I’eau, et ’avis de ne
pas consommer a été retiré peu de temps aprées. Cet exemple
illustre bien comment la chaine de communication a été utilisée
efficacement, évitant ainsi une crise d’approvisionnement en eau
en utilisant ’approche a barrieres multiples des Affaires indiennes
et du Nord Canada.

[Traduction]

Ce sont la deux exemples parmi d’autres des progrés qu’on a
observés, et ils démontrent bien que les mesures mises de I’avant
par le ministére, en collaboration avec ses partenaires des
Premiéres nations, donnent des résultats.

En mai dernier, le comité a publié un rapport final sur la
salubrité de I’eau potable pour les Premiéres nations. Ce rapport a
été examiné par les représentants d’AINC avec un grand intérét.
Le ministére a pris note de deux recommandations importantes
contenues dans ce rapport, notamment, celle demandant de
procéder a une vérification des réseaux d’aqueduc et a une
évaluation indépendante des besoins en biens durables et en
ressources humaines de chacune des communautés des Premiéres
nations relativement a la distribution d’eau potable sécuritaire
avant mars 2008; et celle demandant d’entreprendre un processus
de consultation complet auprés des organismes et des
communautés des Premiéres nations concernant les options
législatives pour élaborer des normes de qualité de I’eau dans les
réserves.

En ce qui concerne la premiére recommandation, des travaux
sont en cours en vue de mettre au point un cadre de référence pour
une évaluation technique indépendante de tous les réseaux
d’alimentation en eau et de traitement des eaux usées des
communautés des Premiéres nations. Les objectifs particuliers
de cette évaluation comprennent les éléments suivants : procéder,
sur une base prioritaire, a une évaluation des réseaux publics et
privés d’alimentation en eau et de traitement des eaux usées dans
les communautés des Premiéres nations, ainsi que des pratiques
opérationnelles qui sont liées a ces réseaux; déterminer le niveau
de risque associé a chaque réseau public; et faire des
recommandations quant aux améliorations opérationnelles et
physiques qu’il faudrait apporter pour réduire les risques pour la
santé et la sécurité.
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The engineering assessment will also provide INAC with the
data necessary to explore the feasibility of providing water
services to First Nation households using private, on-site and
small-scale communal systems.

In relation to this assessment and the need to renovate our
policies on water and wastewater systems, the department
engaged the private sector as well as the Canadian Water and
Wastewater Association to examine the water and wastewater
services of non-First Nation communities with a particular
emphasis on small, rural communities.

It was determined that many rural areas and small towns
throughout Canada rely upon private, individual water and
wastewater systems to meet their needs. They have chosen to do
so primarily due to cost, but also for environmental, health and
safety reasons. Central, piped systems are generally deemed too
expensive to build in small communities due to the cost of the
associated piping networks. Centralized pipe systems are also
costly to operate and maintain. It requires skilled personnel who
are difficult for small communities to find, afford to hire and
retain. For these reasons, many small communities prefer on-site
systems that are simple, low-cost technologies that provide cost-
effective and environmentally-sound solutions on a sustainable
basis.

With respect to the committee’s second recommendation, the
Government of Canada is considering options for the
development of a regulatory regime for safe drinking water for
First Nation communities. It is important to note that some
discussions with First Nations took place while Minister Prentice
was the Minister of Indian and Northern Affairs, regarding his
preferred option.

In May, when Mr. Brooks and I were before this committee,
we advised you of the option Minister Prentice had discussed with
Chief Fontaine to incorporate provincial and territorial standards
into a federal regulatory regime. Since these discussions, as you
are aware, Minister Strahl has been appointed as Minister of
Indian Affairs and Northern Development.

[Translation)

Minister Stahl is giving careful consideration to the various
legislative options and to recommendations put forward by the
Senate Committee on Aboriginal Peoples, as well as the options
provided in the report of the expert panel, before he makes
recommendations to his cabinet colleagues.

[English]

On a final note, a summative evaluation of the First Nations
Water Management Strategy is under way that makes use of data
provided by both INAC and Health Canada. The evaluation will
assess the progress made in providing safe drinking water and
treating wastewater effectively on reserves for the period 2003 to
2007; second, the value created by INAC’s investment in water

L’évaluation technique fournira également a AINC les données
nécessaires pour étudier la possibilité d’offrir des services
d’approvisionnement en eau a des ménages des Premicres
nations au moyen de réseaux privés locaux et de petits réseaux
communs.

En ce qui concerne cette évaluation, et le besoin de revoir nos
politiques pour les réseaux d’alimentation en eau et de traitement
des eaux usées, le ministére a sollicité ’engagement du secteur
privé, ainsi que de I’Association canadienne des eaux potables et
usées, pour examiner les services d’eau potable et d’eaux usées de
communautés autres que celles des Premiéres nations, en mettant
I’accent sur les petites collectivités rurales.

Il a été déterminé que plusieurs régions rurales et petites villes
du Canada ont recours a des réseaux privés individuels d’eau
potable et de traitement des eaux usées pour répondre a leurs
besoins. Elles en ont décidé ainsi principalement pour des raisons
pécuniaires, mais aussi pour des motifs environnementaux, de
santé et de sécurité. De fagon générale, on juge trop dispendieuse
I'installation de réseaux canalisés centraux dans les petites
localités en raison des colts des réseaux de canalisations
associés. Par ailleurs, le fonctionnement et I’entretien de ces
réseaux sont onéreux et requiérent I’embauche de personnel
compétent que les petites localités ont de la difficulté a trouver, a
rémunérer et a maintenir en poste. Pour ces raisons, plusieurs
petites localités favorisent les réseaux autonomes simples et peu
colteux qui offrent des solutions rentables, écologiques et
durables.

Pour ce qui est de la deuxiéme recommandation du comité, le
gouvernement du Canada examine les options pour I’élaboration
d’un régime de réglementation de I’eau potable pour les
communautés des Premiéres nations. Il est important de noter
que des discussions ont eu lieu entre les Premiéres nations et le
ministre Prentice, alors qu’il était ministre d’AINC, concernant
son option préférée.

En mai, M. Brooks et moi vous avons informé que I’option
dont l'ancien ministre Prentice et le chef national Fontaine
avaient discuté consistait a incorporer les normes provinciales et
territoriales dans un régime de réglementation fédéral. Depuis ces
discussions, comme vous le savez, le ministre Strahl a été nommé
ministre des Affaires indiennes et du Nord canadien.

[Frangais)

Le ministre Strahl étudiera soigneusement les différentes
options législatives et les recommandations faites par le Comité
sénatorial des peuples autochtones, de méme que les options
énoncées dans le rapport du groupe d’experts, avant de faire des
recommandations a ses collégues du Cabinet.

[Traduction)

Par ailleurs, une évaluation récapitulative de la Stratégie de
gestion de I’eau des Premiéres nations est en cours. Elle se fondera
sur les données fournies par AINC et Santé Canada pour évaluer,
premieérement, les progrés qui ont été réalisés en ce qui concerne
l’approvisionnement en eau potable de qualité et le traitement
efficace des eaux usées dans les réserves de 2003 a 2007;
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and wastewater systems in First Nation communities; and third,
the relevance and appropriateness of the approach developed and
implemented through the strategy, along with potential
improvements. INAC intends to review the evaluation
recommendations with a view to improving program delivery
over the longer term.

In closing, much progress has been achieved in the area of First
Nation water management; however, more remains to be done.
The Government of Canada and, more specifically, Minister
Strahl have reiterated on a number of occasions their
commitment to assist First Nations in the provision of safe,
clean and reliable drinking water. INAC will continue to reduce
the number of communities with high-risk drinking water systems
and will continue to move forward with the various initiatives that
have been outlined today.

We will continue to look to new approaches that will seek to
optimize existing resources and reduce the risk to drinking water
to ensure that First Nations citizens enjoy access to safe drinking
water.

The Chair: Ms. Cram, you said that a new strategy was being
developed as a result of the Speech from the Throne, but I did not
see anything of a new strategy in that speech. Can you explain
what you are doing differently since the Speech from the Throne?

Ms. Cram: When we came here in May, we talked about the
fact that the First Nations Water Management Strategy
authorities said that funding was up for renewal at the end of
March 2008. Since we were last here, we have been working under
the current First Nations Water Management Strategy and the
action plan on water. I covered a bit of that in my remarks.

Our next stage will be to seek the renewal of the First Nations
Water Management Strategy. That is why we are in process of
undertaking a summative evaluation. We have an evaluation
under way, looking at how we are currently operating. This will
give us suggestions on what improvements we need to make. We
are also looking at this committee’s report and at the expert panel
report that was done on possible legislative options.

The Chair: There is not yet a defined strategy. It is in its
embryonic or development stage; is that correct?

Ms. Cram: Exactly, it is in its development stage.

Senator Sibbeston: When the new government was formed, I
was impressed with Minister Prentice in the sense that he said he
would be dealing with the water situation for First Nations
people. I had the sense that he was serious. It looked like some
new initiatives or more money would be put toward water
programs and that something urgent may happen in the
department.

deuxiémement, la valeur créée par les investissements d’AINC
dans des réseaux d’alimentation en eau et de traitement des eaux
usées pour les communautés des Premiéres nations; et
troisiémement, 'importance et 1'utilité de I’approche élaborée et
mise en ceuvre dans le cadre de la stratégie, de méme que les
améliorations qui auront été apportées. AINC a lintention
d’examiner les recommandations en matiére d’évaluation afin
d’améliorer I’exécution des programmes a long terme.

Pour terminer, bien que d’importants progrées aient été réalisés
dans le domaine de la gestion de I’eau des Premiéres nations, il
reste encore beaucoup a faire. Le gouvernement du Canada, et
plus particuliérement le ministre Strahl, a réitéré a maintes
occasions son engagement a aider les Premiéres nations a obtenir
de I’eau potable salubre, propre et fiable. AINC continuera de
réduire le nombre de communautés dont le réseau d’aqueduc
présente un risque élevé et ira de lavant avec les différentes
initiatives qui ont été mentionnées aujourd’hui.

Nous continuerons de chercher de nouvelles approches en vue
d’optimiser les ressources existantes et de réduire les risques liés a
la consommation de I’eau afin que les citoyens des Premiéres
nations puissent jouir d’un accés a de ’eau potable de qualité et
sans danger.

Le président : Madame Cram, vous avez dit qu'une nouvelle
stratégie était mise au point dans la foulée du discours du Trone,
mais je n’ai pas vu qu’il était question d’une nouvelle stratégie
dans ce discours. Pouvez-vous nous dire ce que vous avez changé
depuis le discours du Tréne?

Mme Cram : Quand nous avons comparu, en mai dernier,
nous avons indiqué que, selon les responsables de la Stratégie de
gestion de 1’eau des Premicres nations, le financement devait étre
renouvelé a la fin de mars 2008. Depuis notre comparution, nous
avons travaillé dans le cadre de la stratégie ainsi que du plan
d’action actuellement en vigueur. J’en ai parlé un peu dans mon
exposé.

Notre prochaine étape consistera a demander le
renouvellement de la Stratégie de gestion de 1’eau des Premieéres
nations. C’est la raison pour laquelle nous sommes en train d’en
faire le bilan. En ce moment, nous évaluons notre fagon de
procéder. Cela nous permettra d’avoir une idée des améliorations
a apporter. De plus, nous examinons le rapport de votre comité
ainsi que le rapport d’experts sur les options législatives possibles.

Le président : 11 n’y a pas encore de stratégie définie. Elle est au
stade embryonnaire, en cours d’élaboration, n’est-ce pas?

Mme Cram : C’est exact, elle en est a 1’étape de I’élaboration.

Le sénateur Sibbeston : Lorsque le nouveau gouvernement a été
formé, j’ai été impressionné quand le ministre Prentice a dit qu’il
allait s’attaquer au probléme de I’eau chez les Premiéres nations.
Il semblait sérieux. Cela laissait entendre que de nouvelles
initiatives allaient étre mises sur pied ou que de nouveaux fonds
allaient étre injectés dans des programmes de gestion de I’eau, et
que les choses pouvaient bouger rapidement au ministére.
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Have you seen a difference since the new government has come
in as to whether there has been more energy, initiative or money
put into this matter of water for our First Nations people?

Ms. Cram: Under the First Nations Water Management
Strategy, the department had $1.6 billion over five years. In
Budget 2006, we received an additional $60 million over two
years. There was also the announcement of the plan of action on
water, and two progress reports were tabled in Parliament, one in
March of 2006 and the other in December of 2006. We hope to
have another progress report in the coming period.

There has been significant improvement in terms of reducing
the number of high-risk water systems. I will ask Mr. Brooks to
cover the highlights of the improvements that have taken place.

Marc Brooks, Director General, Community Development
Branch, Indian and Northern Affairs Canada: As Ms. Cram
indicated, new funding of $60 million was put forward in
Budget 2006. More importantly, there was a new emphasis on
ensuring that we could deal with many of the high-risk systems.
Two years ago, there were approximately 193 systems out of
752 that were deemed high risk in that all factors being
considered, the chance of a problem occurring was quite
elevated. The risk to the community was quite high in terms of
safe drinking water.

In this case, we put a lot of emphasis on what I will refer to as
some of the softer costs. That is, as Ms. Cram indicated, putting
forward a 1-800 number to ensure that communities that did not
necessarily have a certified water operator did have some form of
backup in terms of having a qualified engineer or water
technologist who could work with the community.

We have also worked closely with what is referred to as a
Circuit Rider Training Program. These are technologists scattered
throughout the country who go from community to community in
a circuit. They provide not only hands-on training and mentoring,
but they have also been showing the water technicians how to
troubleshoot and fix the problems and how to perform preventive
maintenance. There has been an emphasis in those areas, as well
as on trying to reduce the number of high-risk systems. There is
an additional focus on training more water plant operators and
finding ways to keep them in the community. Certified water
plant operators are in high demand throughout the country. This
is not just a First Nations problem in terms of retaining water
plant operators; it is a problem across Canada.

Senator Sibbeston: Are you the top officials in the department
responsible for water for First Nations people?

Ms. Cram: The department is organized in such a way that our
work includes the seven regions south of 60. Most delivery in
Indian and Northern Affairs is done through its regional office,
working with Aboriginal partners. We have the regions south
of 60, and that is where the vast majority of reserves are located.
The First Nations Water Management Strategy and the action

Avez-vous noté une différence depuis que le nouveau
gouvernement est au pouvoir? Est-ce qu’il y a eu plus d’efforts,
d’initiatives ou de fonds pour la question de I'eau chez les
Premiéres nations?

Mme Cram : Dans le cadre de la Stratégie de gestion de I'eau
des Premiéres nations, le ministére a consacré 1,6 milliard de
dollars sur cinq ans. Dans le budget de 2006, nous avons regu
60 millions de dollars de plus, répartis sur deux ans. Il y a aussi eu
I’annonce du plan d’action relativement a ’eau et le dépot de deux
rapports d’étape au Parlement, I'un en mars 2006 et I’autre, en
décembre de la méme année. Nous espérons présenter un autre
rapport d’étape bientot.

Il y a eu une amélioration importante dans la réduction des
systémes d’approvisionnement de I’eau qui étaient a haut risque.
Je vais maintenant laisser la parole a M. Brooks afin qu’il
explique dans les grandes lignes les améliorations apportées.

Marc Brooks, directeur général, Direction générale du
développement communautaire, Affaires indiennes et du Nord
Canada : Comme Mme Cram 1’a mentionné, des fonds
supplémentaires de 60 millions de dollars ont été prévus dans le
budget de 2006. Plus important encore, le gouvernement a
manifesté une nouvelle volonté de nous donner les moyens
d’améliorer de nombreux systémes a risque élevé. Il y a deux ans,
environ 193 systémes sur 752 étaient réputés étre a risque élevé,
c’est-a-dire que, tout considéré, les probabilités qu'un probléme
survienne étaient assez importantes. La communauté courait un
danger relativement grand en matiére d’eau potable.

Dans ce cas, nous avons mis surtout I’accent sur ce que
Jappellerai les coflits accessoires. Ainsi, nous avons, comme I’a
mentionné Mme Cram, mis sur pied une ligne 1-800 afin de
permettre aux communautés ne disposant pas nécessairement
d’un opérateur accrédité en traitement de I’eau de recevoir 1’aide
d’un ingénieur qualifi¢ ou d’un technicien spécialis¢é dans le
domaine, en mesure de travailler avec la population.

Nous nous sommes également associés a ce que ’on appelle le
Programme de formation itinérante. Il s’agit de techniciens
spécialisés qui se déplacent d’'une communauté a une autre dans
tout le pays. Ils donnent de la formation pratique, font du
mentorat et enseignent a des techniciens de I'eau comment réparer
les pannes, corriger les problémes et effectuer ’entretien préventif.
L’accent a été mis sur ces initiatives ainsi que sur les efforts en vue
de diminuer le nombre de systémes a risque élevé. De plus, nous
voulons former davantage d’opérateurs de station de traitement
d’eau et les maintenir au sein des communautés. Cette pénurie
d’opérateurs ne touche pas seulement les Premiéres nations, mais
I’ensemble du Canada.

Le sénateur Sibbeston : Etes-vous les plus hauts responsables
du ministére concernant I’eau des Premiéres nations?

Mme Cram : Le ministére est organisé d’une maniére telle que
nous couvrons les sept régions au sud du 60° parallele. La
majorité du travail exécuté par Affaires indiennes et du Nord se
fait par le truchement de notre bureau régional, en collaboration
avec des partenaires autochtones. Nous nous occupons des
régions au sud du 60° paralléle qui regroupent la grande
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plan deal primarily with reserves. We have a sector that has
regional capacity. Mr. Brooks’ branch has all the infrastructure
programs. He has a team that is dedicated specifically to water.
We also have access to engineers, and those engineers do not just
deal with water; they may deal with other infrastructure projects.

Senator Sibbeston: I do not know how the federal government
works, but I come from the Northwest Territories, where I was
involved in government. I was a minister dealing with
communities and so forth. I know that if I were a minister and
received a report like this, I would absolutely reject it, because it
does not indicate that this is an urgent matter. It is not good
enough. I do not see that much has changed.

I know that in closing you said that much progress has been
achieved in the area of First Nations water management and more
remains to be done. That is a general statement that does not
mean very much other than, “Yes, we are dealing with it.” I would
have thought that since our Senate committee has done work in
this area and helped the government department to focus on the
issue, raising it as a real, urgent issue for the people, that the
department and officials like you would be on fire and imbued
and encouraged and work with a sense of urgency. I do not sense
that urgency.

I notice that since our last meeting in the spring, you say,
“With respect to the first recommendation.” Well, all that has
been done is that you are finalizing the terms of reference. That is
so slow. How many years does it take for you to get things done?
Is this the way the federal government is, or is this the way Indian
Affairs operates? Does anyone care? Do you not want to do
something significant? Do you not want to couch your language
in more precise terms rather than saying that much has been done,
but more has to be done. Those are general statements that do not
amount to anything. It does not satisfy me.

You are officials. Is there not a sense of urgency? Are you not
concerned? Are you not burning with zeal to improve the lives of
Aboriginal people across our country? Do you just report and say
that is just the way things are, and it is just going to take years and
years and years. Do you people make a difference at all in the
system? Does it matter what our Senate committee says in terms
of the work we do? Does it matter?

Ms. Cram: I think it matters a great deal, and this is an area
that we think is absolutely important because it affects the health
and safety of individuals. We think we have made progress. I will
ask Mr. Brooks to give you the specifics. We have made progress
on reducing the number of high-risk water systems, and we have
made progress in getting certified operators and backup for those
certified operators. That has been done in a relatively few number
of years. In fact, we are happy that we have been able to make

majorité des réserves. La Stratégie de gestion de I'eau des
Premiéres nations et le plan d’action s’adressent surtout aux
réserves. Nous avons un secteur qui posséde une capacité
régionale. La direction de M. Brooks s’occupe de tous les
programmes d’infrastructure. Elle est dotée d’une équipe dédiée
spécialement a la question de I’eau. Nous avons également accés a
des ingénieurs, lesquels ne s’occupent pas uniquement de ’eau. Ils
peuvent étre chargés d’autres projets d’infrastructure.

Le sénateur Sibbeston: Je ne sais pas comment le
gouvernement fédéral fonctionne, mais je viens des Territoires
du Nord-Ouest, ou j’ai déja été membre du gouvernement. J’étais
ministre responsable des communautés, notamment. Je sais que si
j’étais ministre et que je recevais un rapport de ce genre, je ne
I’accepterais pas, car il ne parle pas de I'urgence de la question. Ce
n’est pas suffisant. Je ne trouve pas que les choses ont beaucoup
changé.

Vous avez terminé votre déclaration en disant qu’il y avait eu
d’importants progrés dans le domaine de la gestion de I'’eau des
Premiéres nations, mais qu’il restait encore beaucoup a faire.
C’est une déclaration générale qui ne veut pas dire grand-chose,
sauf que vous vous occupez du dossier. J’aurais pensé, étant
donné que notre comité sénatorial s’est penché sur la question et a
encouragé le ministére a s’intéresser au probléme, en soulignant
qu’il était bien réel et urgent pour la population, que le ministére
et les hauts fonctionnaires comme vous se seraient empressés de
s’attaquer au dossier en lui accordant toute la priorité. Je n’ai pas
I'impression qu’on a saisi 'urgence de la situation.

Depuis notre derniére rencontre, au printemps dernier, a part
faire allusion a notre premiére recommandation, vous n’avez rien
fait de plus que mettre la derniére main au cadre de référence. Les
choses ne progressent pas vite. Combien d’années vous faudra-t-il
pour passer a 'action? Est-ce ainsi que le gouvernement ou le
ministére des Affaires indiennes fonctionne? Est-ce que quelqu’un
se soucie de la question? Avez-vous l'intention d’intervenir de
fagon importante? Ne voulez-vous pas employer des termes plus
précis au lieu de dire qu’il y a eu des progres, mais il reste encore
beaucoup a faire? Ce genre de déclaration générale ne veut rien
dire. Ce n’est pas ce que je souhaite entendre.

Vous étes des hauts fonctionnaires. N’y a-t-il pas un sentiment
d’urgence? Ne vous inquiétez-vous pas? Est-ce que vous ne briilez
pas d’impatience d’améliorer le sort des Autochtones dans tout le
pays? Est-ce que vous ne faites que vous présenter au rapport et
dire c’est ainsi que sont les choses, et il faudra des années et des
années? Est-ce que vous autres faites une différence dans le
systéme? Est-ce que ce que dit notre comité sénatorial, le travail
que nous faisons, revét une importance quelconque? Est-ce que
cela fait une différence?

Mme Cram : Je pense que cela compte beaucoup, et c’est
quelque chose qui, selon nous, est trés important parce que cela
influe sur la santé et la sécurité de personnes. Nous estimons avoir
fait des progres. Je demanderais a M. Brooks de vous donner des
précisions. Nous avons fait des progrés au titre de la réduction du
nombre de réseaux d’alimentation en eau a risque élevé, et aussi
nous avons trouvé des opérateurs certifiés, et des remplagants
pour eux. Cela s’est fait en relativement peu d’années.
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progress. Is it enough progress? [ am sure everyone in this room,
including ourselves, would agree that we would love to make
more progress and have more results to show. I can assure you
that every civil servant working on this file is incredibly dedicated
to making those improvements. I will ask Mr. Brooks to speak
about the specific improvements that have occurred.

Mr. Brooks: I would like to underscore that we do care. If the
presentation gave that appearance, it certainly is far from the
truth. We do care. We do not like to see any community have
health problems. I do not think any Canadian wants anyone to
have health and safety issues.

In terms of the high-risk systems, I mentioned that there were
193 when Minister Prentice announced the plan of action. We
reduced that number by 50 per cent as of last March. We were
down to 97 systems, and there has been another reduction. At this
point in time, the numbers are still being finalized for Minister
Strahl’s next report.

In terms of the number of water plant operators who have
undergone training, we have 1,140 trained operators and 463 have
reached level 1 certification, which means they are level 1 plant
operators right now.

We have put in oversight measures to ensure that if any
community system runs into trouble there is some form of built-in
backup or redundancy to try to avoid the water problems of the
past.

Senator, I will point out that we are trying to take things in a
slightly different direction. Ms. Cram mentioned some of the
studies undertaken in terms of rural Canada. Many rural
Canadians, and I include myself in that group, have individual
wells and septic systems. I will tell you the water from my system
works extremely well. I have it tested once a year to make sure it is
fine and meets the standards. We have many comparable
communities, non-First Nations communities, which do not
have water treatments systems. They are on individual wells and
septic tanks. We are looking at those communities as part of our
assessment.

You indicated that we are taking a long time on the terms of
reference. We are working closely with our First Nations partners
and other stakeholders in this area and looking at what is the best
type of water solution for the communities. We are not looking at
them as just a made-in-Indian Affairs term of reference. At the
end of the useful life of their existing system, what is the better
solution to put in place? Through the measures, we are hopeful to
be able to provide for communities and that the communities will
be able to adopt and adapt to the solutions that will ensure better
health and safety outcomes.

Nous sommes bien heureux d’avoir pu faire des progrés. Est-ce
que cela suffit? Je suis sire que tout le monde dans cette piéce,
nous compris, serait d’accord pour dire que nous voudrions
beaucoup faire plus et avoir plus de résultats a annoncer. Je peux
vous assurer que tous les fonctionnaires qui travaillent a ce
dossier sont profondément résolus a réaliser ces améliorations. Je
vais demander a M. Brooks de parler des progrés précis qui ont
été réalisés.

M. Brooks : J’aimerais insister sur le fait que tout cela nous
tient & ceeur. Si notre présentation vous a donné I'impression
contraire, c’est loin de la vérité. C’est important pour nous. Nous
ne voulons pas voir de communautés, quelles qu’elles soient,
souffrir de problémes de santé. Je ne pense pas qu’aucun
Canadien souhaite que quiconque ait des problémes de santé et
de sécurité.

Pour ce qui est des réseaux a haut risque, j’ai dit qu’il y en avait
193 quand le ministre Prentice a annoncé le plan d’action. Nous
avions réduit ce nombre de 50 p. 100 en mars dernier. Il restait
97 réseaux, et il y a eu d’autres réductions. Actuellement, on est
encore en train d’en déterminer le nombre pour le prochain
rapport du ministre Strahl.

En ce qui concerne le nombre d’opérateurs de stations
d’épuration des eaux qui suivent une formation, nous avons
1 140 opérateurs formés et 463 d’entre eux ont obtenu la
certification de niveau 1, ce qui signifie qu’ils sont actuellement
des opérateurs de stations de niveau 1.

Nous avons instauré des mesures de surveillance pour nous
assurer que si le réseau d’une collectivité éprouve la moindre
difficulté, une espece de systeme de rechange ou complémentaire
peut prendre la reléve pour essayer d’éviter les problémes d’eau
qu’on a eus dans le passé.

Sénateur, je voudrais souligner que nous essayons de faire les
choses un peu différemment. Mme Cram a parlé de certaines
études qui ont été entreprises dans les régions rurales du Canada.
Bien des Canadiens des régions rurales, dont je suis, ont des puits
et des fosses septiques. Je vous dirai que mon systéme fonctionne
extrémement bien. Je fais tester I’eau une fois par année pour
m’assurer qu’elle est bonne et qu’elle satisfait aux normes. Nous
avons bien d’autres collectivités comparables, des collectivités qui
ne sont pas des Premiéres nations, qui n’ont pas de systéme
d’épuration des eaux. Ils ont des puits et des fosses septiques
individuels. Nous nous intéressons a ces collectivités pour notre
évaluation.

Vous avez dit que nous prenons bien du temps a établir le cadre
de référence. Nous travaillons en étroite collaboration avec nos
partenaires des Premiéres nations et d’autres intervenants dans le
domaine, et nous nous interrogeons sur le meilleur type de
solutions qui puisse étre pour les collectivités en matiere d’eau. Ce
n’est pas pour nous qu'un cadre de référence fabriqué par les
Affaires indiennes. Au bout de la vie utile de leur systéme actuel,
quelle est la meilleure solution a adopter? Par les mesures que
nous allons instaurer, nous espérons pouvoir fournir aux
collectivités des solutions qui assureront une meilleure santé et
plus de sécurité, et qu’elles pourront les adopter et s’y adapter.
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Senator Sibbeston: In your statement, you said that the
government takes note of the committee’s report. You go on to
say that the committee provides several suggestions. How noble
and how kind of you to take note and to turn our
recommendations into suggestions. You weaken it so much; you
dismiss it. I get the impression that you do not take us very
seriously. You note that we made a report to you, and you
consider the recommendations we have made as suggestions. That
is very weak. I just wish there was more fire, more of a sense of
urgency, more of a sense of dedication, a sense that you are
putting your life on the line for the First Nations people of our
country.

In the North, when I was in government, a report like this
would never have passed because it is insufficient. When you want
to do something, you just do it, but you are just at the stage of
finalizing the terms of reference. How many more years will it
take? Surely if you are high enough up in the government
department, can you not deal with these things in a more urgent
and efficient manner than having six months or so to just consider
the terms of reference? That is so lame. That is so little. That is
just typical. It makes me think of a typical federal government.
This is why First Nations people in our country are concerned,
because nothing happens. I do not know what it would take to
light fires under people like you, but I do not get the impression
you are imbued with a sense of urgency. I do not see any
determination to do anything. You are just carrying on in the
regular old same fashion. “It is just Indian people. We will deal
with them and tend to them when the time comes. It will take
years, you know.” I get the feeling that when we hear from you in
six months we will see a similar report.

The Chair: I think they get the message, senator. I am not
restricting this, but I have four other senators who definitely want
to ask some questions. I understand what you are saying. Are you
prepared to make a response?

Ms. Cram: I guess all I can assure you is that both Mr. Brooks
and I understand the seriousness of this matter and we are
attempting to make as much progress as we can. I am sorry if you
interpret the language to be that we do not take your
recommendations seriously.

Senator Sibbeston: They are just suggestions to you, and you
noted them.

Ms. Cram: The first recommendation is to do an assessment,
which indeed we are doing. I accept that your view is that we are
not doing it fast enough.

The second recommendation is to do with the need to consult
before moving on a legislative or regulatory option. I think what
this committee heard last spring was different views about the best
legislative and regulatory options.

Le sénateur Sibbeston : Dans votre déclaration, vous avez dit
que le gouvernement tient compte du rapport du comité. Vous
poursuivez en disant que le comité fait diverses suggestions.
Comme c’est noble et aimable de votre part de prendre note de
notre rapport et de considérer nos recommandations comme des
suggestions! Vous en atténuez tellement la valeur; vous les rejetez
du revers de la main. J’ai 'impression que vous ne nous prenez
pas trés au sérieux. Vous faites remarquer que nous vous
présentons un rapport, et vous considérez que les
recommandations que nous avons faites ne sont que des
suggestions. C’est trés faible. J’aimerais seulement voir plus de
résolution, de sentiment d’urgence, de sentiment de dévouement,
J’aimerais avoir 'impression que vous étes préts a consacrer votre
vie aux peuples des Premicres nations de notre pays.

Dans le Nord, quand je siégeais au gouvernement, un rapport
comme celui-ci n’aurait jamais passé, parce qu’il manque de
substance. Quand on veut faire quelque chose, on le fait tout
simplement, mais vous n’en étes encore qu’a peaufiner le cadre de
référence. Combien d’années de plus vous faudra-t-il? I1 me
semble que vous occupez un poste assez ¢levé au ministére, ne
pouvez-vous pas régler ce genre de chose avec plus de célérité et
d’efficacité plutot que de réfléchir pendant six mois ou plus aux
modalités? C’est vraiment lamentable, c’est tellement peu. C’est
tout a fait typique. Cela me fait vraiment penser a un
gouvernement fédéral typique. C’est pourquoi les peuples des
Premiéres nations de notre pays s’inquiétent, parce que rien ne se
passe. Je ne sais pas ce que cela prendrait pour faire s’activer les
gens comme vous, parce que je n’ai vraiment pas I'impression que
vous soyez imprégnés du sentiment d’urgence. Je ne vois pas de
détermination a faire quoi que ce soit. Vous ne faites que
continuer comme toujours. « Ce ne sont que des Indiens. Nous
allons nous en occuper, régler leur cas en temps et lieu. Mais vous
savez, cela prendra des années. » J’ai 'impression que quand nous
vous verrons dans six mois, ce sera pour nous entendre dire la
méme chose.

Le président : Je crois qu’ils entendent le message, sénateur. Je
ne veux pas vous empécher de parler, mais quatre autres sénateurs
ont des questions a poser. Je comprends ce que vous dites. Est-ce
que vous étes préts a répondre?

Mme Cram : Je suppose que tout ce que je peux vous dire, c’est
que M. Brooks et moi-méme saisissons trés bien le séricux de la
question et nous essayons autant que possible de faire autant de
progrés que possible. Je regrette que vous interprétiez nos propos
comme un manque d’intérét pour vos recommandations.

Le sénateur Sibbeston: Ce ne sont a vos yeux que des
suggestions, et vous en avez pris note.

Mme Cram : La premiére recommandation est de faire une
évaluation, et c’est ce que nous faisons. Je peux comprendre que
vous trouviez que nous n’agissons pas assez vite.

La deuxiéme recommandation concerne la nécessité de
consulter avant d’adopter une solution Ilégislative ou
réglementaire. Je crois que ce que le comité a entendu au
printemps dernier étaient des points de vue différents sur les
meilleures solutions législatives et réglementaires.



1:24

Aboriginal Peoples

28-11-2007

The Chair: Do you have the authority at your level to make the
changes that would make the difference?

I do not doubt your dedication or commitment to your job.
The only thing is have you the authority to make the difference or
do you have to go through a chain of command that theoretically,
regardless of how fired up you would be, you would not be able to
get there?

I have been in a minister in Ottawa and I know how
cumbersome this process can be. That is why I ask this
question. The fact is that we each have responsibilities here, but
could you make a significant difference for safe drinking water for
First Nations?

Ms. Cram: We can operate within the parameters of the First
Nations Water Management Strategy, which is what we have
been doing. To move to a new legislative model requires cabinet
authority; therefore, we would need ministers to agree to that
model.

In terms of the assessment, as long as we can do it within the
funding that we have in the First Nations Water Management
Strategy — we will have that funding until the end of March and
we will be seeking a renewal — we can do the assessment. We will
have to follow the appropriate procurement process in order to
initiate that work though.

The Chair: The public view of this is that we have a $§9.7 billion
budget for Indian and Northern Affairs. We have done a report
and there is an onus on us as parliamentarians, which is what
Senator Sibbeston is trying to get at. If we cannot provide First
Nations communities with safe drinking water we had better get
excited about this issue if we still have 97 high-risk systems. One is
too many, if one child dies from unsafe drinking water. I am sorry
about that, but that is our position. We hope you understand
what drives our concern.

Senator Peterson: I would like you to expand on the systems
audit. I presume that the report of the Senate committee, the
report of the expert panel committee is being made available to
whoever is putting these terms of reference together. I presume
that dealing with the regulatory standards would be a part of that
as well, along with the physical and human capacity to implement
them.

I would hope that at the end of the period of this audit that we
would be able to identify the challenges that we face so that the
work plan can be moved ahead. Is that a fair statement?

Mr. Brooks: What we are looking for in the assessment is part
of the reason it has taken a bit of time with the terms of reference.
First, we are working closely with many First Nation
stakeholders. We have to bear that in mind because we are
dealing with First Nations communities and they certainly have
an important stake in the outcomes.

Le président : Avez-vous le pouvoir, a votre niveau, d’apporter
des changements qui feraient la différence?

Je ne doute pas de votre dévouement ou de votre ardeur a votre
tache. Pourrais-je néanmoins savoir si vous avez les moyens de
faire une différence, ou vous faut-il passer par une voie
hiérarchique qui, théoriquement, quel que soit I’enthousiasme
qui vous habite, ne vous laisserait pas arriver a vos fins?

Jai été ministre a Ottawa, et je sais combien ce processus peut
étre lourd. C’est pourquoi je pose cette question. Le fait est que
nous avons tous des responsabilités, ici, mais est-ce que vous
pourriez faire une véritable différence pour I’eau potable des
Premiéres nations?

Mme Cram : Nous pouvons agir dans les paramétres de la
Stratégie de gestion de I’eau des Premiéres nations, et c’est ce que
nous avons fait. Pour adopter un nouveau modele 1égislatif, il faut
lautorité du cabinet. C’est pourquoi il faudrait que les ministres
conviennent de ce modéle.

En ce qui concerne I’évaluation, tant que nous pouvons la faire
avec les fonds attribués a la Stratégie de gestion de I’eau des
Premiéres nations — nous recevrons ces fonds jusqu’a la fin de
mars, puis nous en demanderons le renouvellement — nous
pouvons faire I’évaluation. Nous devrons toutefois suivre le
processus d’approvisionnement appropri¢ pour entreprendre ce
travail.

Le président : Aux yeux du public, nous avons un budget de
9,7 milliards de dollars pour le ministére des Affaires indiennes et
du Nord canadien. Nous avons produit un rapport, et nous avons
une obligation, en tant que parlementaires, et c’est ce qu’essaie de
dire le sénateur Sibbeston. Si nous ne pouvons pas assurer une eau
potable salubre aux collectivités des Premiéres nations, nous
avons tout intérét a nous dépécher de régler le probléme si nous
avons encore 97 réseaux a haut risque. Un, c’est trop, ne serait-ce
que si un seul enfant meurt a cause de l'insalubrité de I’cau
potable. Je regrette vraiment, mais c’est notre position. Nous
espérons que vous pouvez comprendre ce qui nous inquicte.

Le sénateur Peterson : J’aimerais que vous expliquiez un peu la
vérification de systémes. Je suppose que le rapport du sous-comité
sénatorial, le rapport du groupe d’experts, est mis a la disposition
de la personne qui est chargée d’établir ce cadre de référence. Je
suppose qu’elle examine aussi les normes réglementaires, de méme
que la capacité physique et humaine de les appliquer.

Jaimerais bien qu’a la fin de la période de cette vérification,
nous puissions déterminer les défis qui se posent a nous, pour que
le plan de travail puisse aller de I’avant. Est-ce que ce serait
possible?

M. Brooks : Ce que nous attendons de cette évaluation est une
partie de la raison qui fait que le cadre de référence prend un peu
de temps. Tout d’abord, nous travaillons en étroite collaboration
avec bien des intervenants des Premi¢res nations. Nous nous
devons de ne pas 'oublier parce que nous travaillons avec des
collectivités des Premicres nations et il est certain que ’enjeu est
d’envergure, pour elles.
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We will be looking at all the various approaches, including the
First Nation Water Management Strategy, which are the non-
regulatory standards that we have in the department. We will also
be looking at the operations and maintenance spending allocated
to each community for system maintenance, operator training,
salaries, and things of that nature.

We are also auditing the systems. How well are the systems
functioning? We do have incidents in certain communities where
some First Nation members do not like the taste of chlorine so
they disconnect a chlorinator in a water system. That can result in
the possible degeneration of the water and chloroform problems
will occur. These are issues that we will be able to notice in going
through the complete assessment and audit of all the wastewater
systems.

I wish to underscore that we will not only be looking at the
community systems themselves, but also some of the individual
systems — the private wells within the communities. We will be
looking at the hydrology studies within the various communities
to identify the best solutions to provide clean, safe drinking water
to all citizens.

Senator Peterson: How long do you think it will take to
complete this audit?

Mr. Brooks: Approximately 640 communities have some form
of water systems including private wells and water treatment
systems. When the engineering firms come back, they will have to
tell us how long they think it will take. We would like to see it
completed within 18 months.

Senator Peterson: The last time we met the Circuit Rider
Training Program was a major issue. It was indicated that there
were not funds available for that program, which begs the
question why you put regulatory standards in place when they
cannot be met. They do not have the people in place who
understand the problems.

Is your report going to address that issue? You say you have
been training and certifying. Have you found the money to deal
with this issue?

Mr. Brooks: With the plan of action, we had some identified
funding to enhance the training activities as well as the circuit
rider training activities. We undertook a study to see how many
circuit rider operators are required to ensure enough operators to
work with the communities; we are striving for a six-to-one ratio.

With that, we estimate we have to hire another 30 to 40 circuit
riders, depending on the proximity of the communities. In this
regard, we are going ahead with an enhancement of the system.

Senator Peterson: They are key to the whole thing. You can
have all the regulations you want, but without people to
implement them, the system will not work.

Nous allons examiner toutes les approches possibles, y compris
la Stratégie de gestion de I’eau des Premiéres nations, qui sont les
normes non réglementaires que nous appliquons au ministére.
Nous allons aussi examiner les montants alloués a chaque
collectivité pour le fonctionnement et I’entretien des réseaux, la
formation des opérateurs, les salaires et ce genre de chose.

Nous vérifions aussi les systémes. Dans quelle mesure
fonctionnent-ils bien? Il arrive bien, dans certaines collectivités,
que certains membres de la Premiére nation n’aiment pas le gott
du chlore, alors ils débranchent le dispositif de chloration de leur
systéme. Cela peut entrainer la dégradation de I'eau et des
problémes de chloroforme. C’est le genre de choses que nous
pourrons remarquer en faisant une évaluation compléte et une
vérification de tous les systémes de traitement des eaux usées.

Jaimerais souligner que nous n’allons pas seulement examiner
les systémes des collectivités, mais aussi certains systémes de
particuliers — les puits privés dans les collectivités. Nous allons
examiner les études d’hydrologie qui sont faites dans les diverses
collectivités en vue de formuler les meilleures solutions possibles
pour fournir une eau propre et salubre a tous les citoyens.

Le sénateur Peterson : Combien de temps, d’apres vous, devrait
prendre cette vérification?

M. Brooks : Environ 640 collectivités ont une espece
quelconque de réseau d’alimentation en eau, y compris les puits
et les systémes d’épuration privés. Quand les groupes d’ingénieurs
reviendront, ils devront nous dire combien de temps, selon eux,
cela prendra. Nous aimerions en avoir terminé en 18 mois.

Le sénateur Peterson : La derniére fois que nous vous avons vu,
le Programme de formation itinérant posait un gros probléme.
Nous nous sommes fait dire qu’il n’y avait pas de fonds
disponibles pour ce programme, ce qui nous améne a demander
pourquoi vous instaurez des normes réglementaires quand elles ne
peuvent étre respectées. Ils n’ont pas de gens sur place qui
comprennent la nature des problémes.

Est-ce que votre rapport traitera de cette question? Vous dites
que vous avez offert une formation et la certification. Avez-vous
trouvé de l'argent pour régler ce probleme?

M. Brooks : Avec le plan d’action, nous avons réservé des
fonds pour améliorer les activités de formation, ainsi que les
activités de formation itinérantes. Nous avons entrepris une étude
pour voir combien d’opérateurs itinérants sont nécessaires pour
faire en sorte qu’il y en ait assez dans les collectivités; nous
cherchons a atteindre une proportion de six pour un.

Ainsi, nous estimons devoir embaucher de 30 a 40 opérateurs
itinérants, selon la proximité des collectivités. Sur ce plan, nous
allons de l'avant avec des mesures de perfectionnement du
systéme.

Le sénateur Peterson : Ils sont la clé de tout le probleme. On
peut avoir tous les réglements qu’on veut, mais sans les gens pour
les appliquer, le systéme ne fonctionnera pas.
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Mr. Brooks: We agree. The last time we met — and it may not
have occurred at that point — the circuit riders were semi-
autonomous organizations or individuals throughout the country.
We have brought them together to exchange best practices and
ensure national cohesion.

Senator Gustafson: I liked your comments on water supply. Is
getting water a big factor? Are you using wells? I suppose it varies
from place to place.

Mr. Brooks: The current policy is that we will be going forward
to change — and this is within our authority to be able to effect
that change —from the mid-1980s. Under this policy, we do not
provide funding for systems that have fewer than five
connections. If you had a community well that had five or more
connections, the department would provide the funding but we
were not funding individual wells.

There are approximately 14,000 individual wells in First
Nations communities throughout the country but they have
been funded either by the bands themselves or by individuals. As
a result, in some instances, the wells have not been commissioned
properly. They have not always been dug deep enough to a good
aquifer; perhaps as soon as they hit water, they would stop
because of lack of funding. We are looking to try and change that
so that we can support individual wells and septic systems.

Senator Gustafson: Are there health problems coming from this
type of water supply now? Have you run into that issue?

Mr. Brooks: We have heard that there are issues with
individual wells. There have been some cases reported in a few
of the communities. There was a case up in the Yukon about four
weeks ago. The department has worked with the community,
which is a self-governing First Nation. We have provided them
with technical advice together with the Yukon territorial
government.

Senator Gustafson: The way in which communities conduct
themselves is very important. We have had water and sewer
problems to no end in the little town that I live in. Engineers want
to come out from Regina and want more money to analyze the
situation than it takes to fix it. They fixed the problem, and yet it
still does not work. Any practical person could have built a
holding tank, put a big pump on it and pumped the sewer out.
However, it becomes a challenge to be practical.

I would think that this would be a major challenge for the
department. Do you have familiar contractors who stick with the
department and go from problem to problem? How does that
work? Is that left up to the community?

Mr. Brooks: Basically, it is up to the community. The
communities themselves undertake the contracting for the
systems themselves. The department tries to provide technical

M. Brooks : Nous en convenons tout a fait. La derniére fois
que nous nous sommes rencontrés — et peut-étre n’était-ce pas
arrivé a ce moment-la — les opérateurs itinérants étaient des
organisations semi-autonomes de personnes dans tout le pays.
Nous les avons réunis pour échanger des pratiques exemplaires et
assurer la cohésion a 1’échelle nationale.

Le sénateur Gustafson : J’ai bien aimé vos commentaires sur
l’approvisionnement en eau. Est-ce que I’acceés a I’eau est un gros
probléme? Est-ce que vous utilisez des puits? Je suppose que cela
varie d’un endroit a l'autre.

M. Brooks : La politique actuelle, c’est que nous allons aller de
I’avant avec le changement — et la réalisation de ce changement
reléve de notre autorité — depuis le milieu des années 1980. En
vertu de cette politique, nous ne fournissons pas de financement
pour les systémes qui ont moins de cinq connections. S’il y a un
puits communautaire qui a au moins cinq connexions, le ministére
fournit un financement, mais pas pour les puits privés.

Il y a environ 14 000 puits privés dans les collectivités des
Premiéres nations dans tout le pays, mais ils ont été financés soit
par les bandes elles-mémes, ou par les particuliers. En
conséquence, dans certains cas, les puits n’ont pas été fabriqués
comme ils I’auraient dd. Ils n’ont pas toujours été creusés assez
profond pour atteindre une bonne nappe aquifére; peut-étre
qu’aussitot qu’ils atteignaient 1’eau, ils arrétaient de creuser a
cause du manque de fonds. Nous cherchons a essayer de changer
cela pour fournir un appui pour les puits et les fosses septiques
privés.

Le sénateur Gustafson: Est-ce que ce genre
d’approvisionnement en eau pose des problémes de santé
actuellement? Est-ce que vous avez eu ce genre de probléme?

M. Brooks : Nous avons entendu parler de puits privés qui
posaient des problémes. Divers cas ont été signalés dans quelques
collectivités. Il y en a eu un au Yukon, il y a environ quatre
semaines. Le ministére a travaillé avec la collectivité, qui est une
Premiére nation autogouvernée. Nous leur avons offert des
conseils techniques, avec le gouvernement territorial du Yukon.

Le sénateur Gustafson : L’attitude des collectivités est trés
importante. Nous avons eu des problémes d’eau et d’égouts sans
fin dans la petite ville ou je vis. Les ingénieurs veulent venir de
Regina et veulent qu’on leur donne plus d’argent pour analyser la
situation qu’il n’en faudrait pour régler le probléme. Ils sont
censés avoir réglé le probléme, et pourtant le systéme ne
fonctionne toujours pas. N’importe quelle personne pratique
aurait pu construire un réservoir, y brancher une grosse pompe, et
pomper les eaux usées. Cependant, il devient difficile d’étre
pratique.

Il me semble que ce devrait étre un défi d’importance pour le
ministere. Est-ce que vous avez des fournisseurs habituels qui sont
fideles au ministére et vont d'un probléme a I’autre? Comment
cela fonctionne-t-il? Est-ce que c’est laissé au gré de la collectivité?

M. Brooks : En fait, c’est a la collectivit¢ d’y voir. Les
collectivités elles-mémes concluent les contrats pour les
systémes. Le ministére essaie d’offrir des conseils techniques
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advice when we can. The problem is, we have engineers on staff
and, like all departments, we are short-staffed in terms of those
engineers. We do provide as much technical support as we can.
Basically, everything is contracted out.

In terms of oversight for the communities, I mentioned the 1-
800 number. We have contracted for these activities ourselves to
ensure the funding is there and the activities do occur.

Senator Hubley: I welcome you both this evening. I was
certainly pleased to see the number of preventive maintenance
initiatives that have taken place. It shows me that you are moving
in the right direction and progress is being made.

I am wondering if you might help me with the figures. In
March, the first progress report — Mr. Brooks, I think you
mentioned this — showed there were 193 on-reserve high-risk
drinking water systems, and it went down to 97 at that time.
Approximately how long did that take? Did that decrease happen
from the beginning of the plan of action?

Mr. Brooks: Yes, it did. It took about a year to reduce that
number.

Senator Hubley: There was a question on the number of high-
risk water systems and you mentioned that perhaps the minister
was waiting to get the figures. Can you give us any idea as to
whether it would have halved itself again? Would it have dropped
that dramatically?

Mr. Brooks: I would like to say it has, but it has not dropped
dramatically. We do, however, have a substantial reduction.

Senator Hubley: Can you give me any idea of what that would
be in terms of a percentage or a number? I am not trying to
second guess the minister’s report or his progress report.

Mr. Brooks: Minister Prentice indicated in his March 2007
report that he wanted to reduce the high-risk systems by another
50 per cent, and that is what we are striving to do this year. I hope
that we will go down even further over the course of this fiscal
year. We are trying to get the figure of 97 down to 49, if we can,
by the end of this fiscal year. We are striving to improve on that
number.

Senator Hubley: Are you getting close?

Mr. Brooks: I think we are making significant progress.

Senator Hubley: I will leave it at that and hope that we are
decreasing the number of high-risk systems. The figures are
important because they indicate that we are taking the issue
seriously. I understand that some situations are easy to solve in
the beginning, but I am sure some are more of a challenge to you.

When you talk about an on-reserve high-risk drinking water
system, is that a community system or an individual system?
Could there be 10 different water systems in one community?

quand il le peut. Le probléme, c’est que nous avons un effectif
d’ingénieurs et, comme tout autre ministére, nous avons une
pénurie de ces ingénieurs. Nous offrons autant que possible du
soutien technique. En général, tout est fait en sous-traitance.

En ce qui concerne la surveillance des collectivités, j’ai parlé du
numéro 1-800. Nous avons nous-mémes conclu un contrat pour
ces activités pour nous assurer que le financement existe et que les
activités sont réalisées.

Le sénateur Hubley : Je vous souhaite la bienvenue a tous les
deux ce soir. J’ai bien aimé voir la quantité de projets d’entretien
préventif qui sont en ceuvre. Cela me dit que vous allez dans la
bonne direction, et que vous faites des progres.

Jaimerais que vous m’aidiez avec les chiffres. En mars, le
premier rapport d’étape — je crois, monsieur Brooks, que vous en
avez parlé — déclarait qu’il y avait 193 réseaux d’alimentation en
eau a haut risque dans les réserves, et ce chiffre était tombé a 97 a
ce moment-la. Combien de temps, environ, cela a-t-il pris? Est-ce
que cette réduction a été enregistrée au début du plan d’action?

M. Brooks : Oui. Il a fallu environ un an pour réduire ce
nombre.

Le sénateur Hubley : Une question a été posée sur le nombre de
réseaux d’alimentation en eau a risque élevé, et vous avez dit que
le ministre attendait peut-étre des chiffres. Pouvez-vous nous dire
s’il est possible que le nombre ait augmenté encore? Ou est-ce qu’il
aurait diminué d’autant?

M. Brooks : J’aimerais bien vous dire que oui, mais il n’y a pas
eu de baisse radicale. Nous avons toutefois observé une réduction
importante.

Le sénateur Hubley : Pouvez-vous me donner une idée de ce
que cela représenterait en pourcentage ou en chiffre? Je n’essaie
pas de critiquer aprés coup le rapport du ministre ou son rapport
d’étape.

M. Brooks : Le ministre Prentice a indiqué dans son rapport de
mars 2007 qu’il voulait réduire encore de 50 p. 100 les réseaux a
risque élevé, et c’est ce que nous visons cette année. J’espere méme
que nous dépasserons cet objectif au cours de 1’exercice financier
actuel. En fait, nous essayons de faire passer le nombre de 97 a 49,
si possible, d’ici a la fin de I’exercice financier. Nous nous
efforgons d’améliorer ce résultat.

Le sénateur Hubley : Approchez-vous de cet objectif?

M. Brooks : Je crois que nous réalisons des progres
importants.

Le sénateur Hubley : Je vais en rester 1a, mais j’espére que nous
réduirons le nombre des réseaux a risque élevé. Les chiffres sont
importants, car ils montrent que nous prenons la question au
sérieux. Je comprends que certaines situations sont faciles a régler
au début, mais je suis stre que d’autres le sont moins pour vous.

Lorsque vous parlez d’un réseau d’eau potable a risque élevé
dans les réserves, s’agit-il d’un systéme communautaire ou
individuel? Peut-on avoir dix différents systémes d’alimentation
en eau dans une seule collectivité?
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Mr. Brooks: There could very easily be three, four or
10 systems. Sometimes there are communal wells that may
serve 10 houses, and that would be considered a system.

When we are referring to a high-risk system, it is actually a
system. Theoretically, there could be 10 systems within a
community for various suburbs, but only one of those systems
may be high-risk.

Senator Hubley: Obviously, there have been a number of
communities taken off of that high-risk list. Have any of them
been put back on the list?

Mr. Brooks: I will have to check. To the best of my knowledge,
one community went from medium-risk to high-risk. I do not
know if it was a community that had been reduced down. I would
be happy to provide you with that information.

Senator Hubley: That information would be of interest to the
committee. I am sure that some communities would be placed
back on the high-risk list. Do you have any examples of that
situation? Perhaps, the system works so well that it does not
happen.

Do you feel that we are taking the correct approach? Are we
doing it properly?

Mr. Brooks: I do not understand what you mean in terms of
“the approach.”

Senator Hubley: From your experience and the successes you
have seen, do you see that we are doing things correctly? Would
more money accelerate the process and help us reach an
acceptable standard of water quality?

Ms. Cram: I think Mr. Brooks was speaking earlier about
how, as part of the assessment we are doing, we want to see
whether there are other options that might meet the needs. In
many cases, we need to build big plants. We recognize that it takes
a lot of capacity and money to operate big plants, and maybe that
is not always the best solution.

Through this review, we want to recognize the best cost-
effective means; what works best with the capacity and what will
deliver the best solution for a particular community. We want to
consider that and look at the idea of wells and septic tanks, which
in some cases, may be good options instead of installing a big
plant in a small community where it will present challenges in
terms of the capacity to run it.

Senator Hubley: Speaking of systems, do we have a choice in
systems? Are there programs in other parts of the world that
utilize different technologies? Is it an ongoing process in your
department that you are continually looking for a better way of
building the mouse trap?

Mr. Brooks: Yes, it is. In terms of the research, we work with
the Canadian International Development Agency, as an example.
I worked with CIDA many years ago on water solutions for
developing countries. There are systems used overseas that are
adaptable for many of the communities here at a lower cost,

M. Brooks : On pourrait facilement en avoir trois, quatre ou
dix. Il y a parfois des puits communautaires qui peuvent desservir
dix foyers, ce qui serait considéré comme un réseau.

Lorsque nous parlons d’un réseau a risque ¢levé, il s’agit bel et
bien d’un réseau. En théorie, une collectivité pourrait avoir dix
réseaux pour ses diverses banlieues, mais un seul pourrait
représenter un risque élevé.

Le sénateur Hubley : De toute évidence, des collectivités ont été
retirées de la liste des collectivités a risque élevé. Certaines d’entre
elles ont-elles été réinscrites a la liste?

M. Brooks : Je vais devoir vérifier. Pour autant que je sache,
on a eu une collectivité dont le risque est passé de moyen a élevé.
Jignore s’il s’agissait d’une collectivité dont le risque avait été
réduit. Je serai heureux de vous fournir ces renseignements.

Le sénateur Hubley : Ces renseignements pourraient intéresser
le comité. Je suis stire que certaines collectivités seraient réinscrites
a la liste. Avez-vous des exemples d’une telle situation? Peut-étre
que le systéme fonctionne si bien que cela ne se produit pas.

Croyez-vous que nous adoptons la bonne approche? Faisons-
nous les choses comme il faut?

M. Brooks : Je ne comprends pas ce que vous voulez dire par
« approche ».

Le sénateur Hubley : D’aprés votre expérience et les cas de
réussite que vous avez constatés, pensez-vous que nous agissons
correctement? Croyez-vous que des fonds supplémentaires
pourraient accélérer le processus et nous aider a atteindre une
norme acceptable en matiére de qualité de ’eau?

Mme Cram : Je crois que, comme M. Brooks I’a expliqué tout
a I’heure, nous voulons voir, dans le cadre de notre évaluation, s’il
y a d’autres options susceptibles de répondre aux besoins. Dans
bien des cas, nous devons batir de grosses usines. Nous
reconnaissons qu’il faut beaucoup de capacité et d’argent pour
exploiter de grosses usines, et ce n’est peut-étre pas toujours la
meilleure solution.

Dans le cadre de notre examen, nous voulons repérer les
moyens les plus rentables : ce qui donne les meilleurs résultats
avec la capacité existante et ce qui constitue la meilleure solution
pour une collectivité donnée. Nous voulons tenir compte de ces
facteurs et examiner I'idée des puits et des fosses septiques qui,
dans certains cas, pourraient s’avérer de bonnes options au lieu
d’implanter une grosse usine dans une petite collectivité qui
n’aura pas la capacité nécessaire pour I’exploiter.

Le sénateur Hubley : S’agissant des réseaux, avons-nous le
choix? Y a-t-il des programmes ailleurs dans le monde qui
utilisent différentes technologies? S’agit-il d’un processus continu
qui existe dans votre ministére pour vous amener a chercher sans
cesse une meilleure fagon de faire?

M. Brooks : Oui, c’est le cas. En matiére de recherche, nous
travaillons, par exemple, avec 1I’Agence canadienne de
développement international. J’ai travaillé avec 'ACDI il y a
bien des années pour trouver des solutions d’alimentation en eau
pour les pays en développement. Des systémes utilisés a 1’étranger
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which is part of the reason we are trying to focus more on
individual wells. We are looking at more individual accountability
and responsibility for various home dwellers.

Senator Hubley: How far are we from making some of those
major decisions in how to solve the problem?

Mr. Brooks: I do not know that the decisions will solve all of
the problems, as Ms. Cram pointed out. Wells and septic tanks
are not the right solutions for all communities. We are striving
toward small systems commensurate with the needs of the
community.

We are working on policy development right now, as well as
preparing a standard for the commissioning and decommissioning
of individual wells. Once the policy change is affected, we want to
ensure some form of standard accompany it so communities and
individuals understand the expectations.

Senator Dallaire: I wish to indicate that as I am on a rather
steep learning curve here, and as a visual person, I will be looking
to the clerk for things like maps and organizational charts.
Second, I hope to change my initial reaction, based on my
experience on the Standing Senate Committee on Human Rights
that Indian and Northern Affairs Canada is paternalistic and not
progressive. I hope to learn whether that is actually the attitude or
the way of being of that organization and its culture.

Ms. Cram mentioned that INAC is there to assist the First
Nations. Is that an articulated mandate that INAC is there to
assist the Aboriginal people, or is there a more specific legislative
responsibility?

Ms. Cram: We do have legislation under which we work. The
Indian Act is the primary piece of legislation dealing with
reserves. In addition, every self-governing First Nation and those
that have negotiated modern treaties have legislation under which
they operate.

When we use language like “assist,” part of it is the shift that
occurred in Indian and Northern Affairs Canada over time. Prior
to the 1980s, the department had delivered programming. In the
1980s, devolution occurred. The government responded to
demands by First Nations that said they could do a better job
than INAC in providing services to their constituents. There was
a shift to move service delivery from the department to First
Nation governments and other organizations.

In many cases, what we really do is provide funding. About
85 per cent of the department’s budget is spent in funding that is
delivered to First Nations and other organizations. In some cases
the department will retain certain activities. For example, First
Nations governments would have enough water operators on
staff. However, as Mr. Brooks indicated, some backup has been
given to provide operators. Where we recognize or see a gap,

peuvent étre adaptés a bon nombre des collectivités au pays a un
colit moindre, ce qui explique en partic pourquoi nous essayons
de mettre davantage l’accent sur les puits individuels. Nous
cherchons a accroitre la reddition de comptes et la responsabilité
des divers propriétaires d’habitations.

Le sénateur Hubley : Ou en sommes-nous pour ce qui est de
prendre certaines des grandes décisions sur la fagon de résoudre le
probléme?

M. Brooks : Je ne sais pas si les décisions résoudront tous les
problémes, comme Mme Cram I’a souligné. Les puits et les fosses
septiques ne constituent pas la solution appropriée pour toutes les
collectivités. Nous visons a établir des réseaux de petite taille a la
mesure des besoins de la collectivité.

Nous travaillons actuellement a I’élaboration de la politique,
ainsi qu’a la préparation d’une norme pour la mise en service et le
déclassement des puits individuels. Dés que la politique sera
modifiée, nous veillerons a ce qu’elle soit accompagnée d’une
norme quelconque pour permettre aux collectivités et aux
particuliers de comprendre les attentes.

Le sénateur Dallaire : J’aimerais d’abord signaler que la courbe
d’apprentissage étant plutdt raide pour moi ici, et comme je suis
une personne visuelle, je vais demander a la greffiére de fournir du
matériel comme des cartes et des organigrammes. Deuxiémement,
jespére changer ma réaction initiale, d’aprés mon expérience au
sein du Comité sénatorial permanent des droits de la personne, a
savoir qu’Affaires indiennes et du Nord canadien est paternaliste
et rétrograde. J’espere apprendre si c’est vraiment I’attitude ou la
fagon de procéder de cette organisation et de sa culture.

Mme Cram a indiqué qu’AINC est 1a pour aider les Premiéres
nations. S’agit-il d’'un mandat d’AINC en bonne et due forme ou
y a-t-il une responsabilité 1égislative plus précise?

Mme Cram : Des lois régissent notre travail. La Loi sur les
Indiens est la principale mesure législative qui porte sur les
réserves. En outre, chaque Premiére nation autonome, de méme
que celles qui ont négocié des traités modernes sont régies par des
lois.

Lorsque nous utilisons des termes comme « aider », c’est en
partie en raison du changement d’orientation qui est survenu a
Affaires indiennes et du Nord Canada avec le temps. Avant les
années 1980, le ministére exécutait des programmes. Dans les
années 1980, il y a eu le transfert des responsabilités. Le
gouvernement a répondu aux demandes des Premiéres nations
qui affirmaient pouvoir faire un meilleur travail qu’AINC en
matiére de prestation de services a leurs commettants. La
prestation des services est donc passée du ministére aux
gouvernements des Premiéres nations et a d’autres organisations.

Dans bien des cas, ce que nous faisons vraiment, c’est fournir
du financement. Environ 85 p. 100 du budget du ministére sert a
accorder des fonds aux Premic¢res nations et a d’autres
organisations. Dans certains cas, le ministére s’occupera de
certaines activités. Par exemple, les gouvernements des
Premiéres nations ont un nombre suffisant d’opérateurs d’usines
de traitement de 1’eau parmi leur personnel. Toutefois,
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the department may enter into contracts to provide these services
for communities that are not able to do it on their own. We will
do that on an interim basis.

Senator Dallaire: You have indicated that when a gap is
identified, you may be involved in trying to assist. How much can
INAC be held accountable for problems? Are you interpreting an
implementation of a new methodology that has not devolved your
responsibility, but rather has only devolved the service delivery
while responsibility remains with the department?

Ms. Cram: We would say that our department is responsible.
Parliament appropriates funds to Indian and Northern Affairs
Canada to do certain things. Our minister is responsible to
Parliament for the expenditure of those funds.

You point out a challenge in that we are not the ultimate
deliverer, but we use certain means, such as funding instruments,
to have accountability for the expenditures. Money is provided to
those First Nation governments and organizations and they are
required to report to the department on the expenditure of those
funds.

Over time, we want to move toward those First Nations
governments being accountable to their constituents. Now, they
produce an annual audit, but we would like shared accountability,
where First Nation governments are accountable to their citizens
at the same time that the department and the minister are
accountable to Parliament.

Where you have a self-governing First Nation, that
accountability has shifted already.

Senator Dallaire: However, they do not go directly to the
federal government, they go to INAC.

Ms. Cram: They usually receive a grant.

Senator Dallaire: We know the 2008-09 budget is not
approved. However, we also know that there is a five-year
program. Is it $1.6 billion or $600 million?

Ms. Cram: I must apologize, it is $1.6 billion. There is
$1 billion in INAC’s A- Base, $600 million is associated with
the First Nations Water Management Strategy and it is that piece
for which we will be seeking renewal on March 31.

Senator Dallaire: It was new money in 2003, but it was not
incorporated into the A-Base when you received it. Is it still a
project that must by approved by Treasury Board?

Ms. Cram: Yes.

comme M. Brooks I’a indiqué, on a fourni de 1’aide
supplémentaire pour accroitre le nombre des opérateurs.
Lorsque nous reconnaissons ou constatons une lacune, le
ministére peut conclure des contrats afin de fournir ces services
aux collectivités qui ne sont pas en mesure de le faire toutes seules.
Nous le ferons de fagon provisoire.

Le sénateur Dallaire : Vous avez dit que lorsqu’une lacune est
constatée, vous pouvez intervenir en essayant d’offrir de l'aide.
Dans quelle mesure AINC peut-il étre tenu responsable des
problémes? Interprétez-vous cela comme la mise en ccuvre d’une
nouvelle méthodologie dont vous avez conservé la responsabilité
ou comme le simple transfert de la prestation de service alors que
la responsabilité reléve toujours du ministere?

Mme Cram : Nous dirions que notre ministére est responsable.
Le Parlement octroie a Affaires indiennes et du Nord canadien
des fonds pour faire certaines choses. Notre ministre doit rendre
compte de ces dépenses au Parlement.

Vous avez souligné une tache difficile, en ce sens que nous ne
sommes pas le fournisseur final, mais que nous utilisons certains
moyens, comme des instruments de financement, pour remplir
I’obligation de rendre compte des dépenses. Les fonds sont
accordés aux gouvernements et aux organisations des Premieres
nations, qui sont tenus de rendre compte au ministére de la fagon
dont ces fonds sont dépensés.

Avec le temps, nous voulons que les gouvernements des
Premiéres nations rendent compte & leurs commettants. A I’heure
actuelle, ils effectuent une vérification annuelle, mais nous
aimerions un partage des responsabilités, dans le cadre duquel
les gouvernements des Premiéres nations rendent compte a leurs
citoyens, tandis que le ministére et le ministre rendent compte au
Parlement.

Dans le cas des gouvernements des Premiéres nations
autonomes, I'obligation de rendre compte est déja transférée.

Le sénateur Dallaire : Toutefois, ils ne s’adressent pas
directement au gouvernement fédéral, mais plutdt & AINC.

Mme Cram : Ils regoivent habituellement une subvention.

Le sénateur Dallaire : Nous savons que le budget pour
2008-2009 n’est pas encore approuvé. Toutefois, nous savons
également qu’il existe un programme quinquennal. S’agit-il de
1,6 milliard de dollars ou de 600 millions de dollars?

Mme Cram : Excusez-moi, c’est 1,6 milliard de dollars. Un
montant de 1 milliard de dollars est prévu dans le budget de
services votés d’AINC, alors que le montant de 600 millions de
dollars est associé a la Stratégie de gestion de I’eau des Premiéres
nations; c’est pour ce dernier élément que nous présenterons une
demande de renouvellement le 31 mars prochain.

Le sénateur Dallaire : Il s’agissait de nouveaux fonds en 2003,
mais ils n’ont pas été intégrés dans le budget de services votés
lorsque vous les avez regus. Est-ce toujours un projet qui doit étre
approuvé par le Conseil du Trésor?

Mme Cram : Oui.
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Senator Dallaire: Is it identified in a proposal for 2008-09 to
cover the next five years? Are you seeking $800 million?

Ms. Cram: We need to go to cabinet, and then we need to see if
it appears in the budget. We are still developing the proposal.

Senator Dallaire: Do you not have that money?

Ms. Cram: No, the extra $600 million will end March 31, 2008.
Now we are working on a new proposal for the extension.
Unfortunately, I cannot tell you how much money we will be
requesting.

Senator Dallaire: It is a project that you want to pursue and
this money is not in your A-Base. You also do not have in your
funding line a promissory note in the overall plan. Is the
department’s overall demand for funds incorporating the
$600 million or will that be something new that will be dropped
on the minister.

Ms. Cram: It will be something new. It is a program as
opposed to a project. Programs that come up for renewal may
vary from two to five years. We have a program coming up for
renewal and its five-year period ends March 31, 2008. Each
department needs to come forward with proposals for the renewal
of those programs. We are working on such a proposal that we
will bring to the minister.

Senator Dallaire: I spent four years in project management and
capital acquisitions at DND. This is like a major Crown project,
and I am just concerned at how far your term “strategy” is mature
to actually defend this program being renewed. We are in
November and the budget is in February, and they probably
asked in September for the proposals of budgetary demands.
How far are you down the road with this requirement for the
$600 million, or are you going for more?

Ms. Cram: I would say that we are advanced on developing
proposals. Generally speaking, the time frame that departments
work towards is to get to cabinet prior to Christmas in the hopes
to get into a subsequent budget. We are working towards being in
cabinet before Christmas.

Senator Dallaire: Do you have a memorandum prepared?

Ms. Cram: We are working on that.

Senator Dallaire: It seems a little late in the exercise,
particularly when you say that the strategy is still evolving. You
are still looking at new methodologies of actually providing this
capability. It seems to me that you are a bit behind the power
curve, but I am not familiar with your department so much as the
other ones.

Le sénateur Dallaire : Indique-t-on dans une proposition pour
2008-2009 que ce montant couvre les cinq prochaines années?
Cherchez-vous a obtenir 800 millions de dollars?

Mme Cram : Nous devons présenter un mémoire au Cabinet
et, par la suite, nous devons voir si cela figurera au budget. Nous
travaillons toujours a ’élaboration de la proposition.

Le sénateur Dallaire : N’avez-vous pas cet argent?

Mme Cram : Non, le montant supplémentaire de 600 millions
de dollars viendra a terme le 31 mars 2008. Nous travaillons
maintenant a une nouvelle proposition de reconduction.
Malheureusement, je ne peux pas vous dire combien nous
solliciterons.

Le sénateur Dallaire : 1l s’agit d’'un projet que vous voulez
poursuivre et cette somme n’est pas prévue dans le budget de
services votés. Qui plus est, vous n’avez pas, dans votre limite de
financement, un billet a ordre dans le plan global. Les
600 millions de dollars seront-ils inclus dans la demande de
financement générale du ministére ou feront-ils partie de quelque

chose de nouveau qui sera présenté au ministre?

Mme Cram : Ce sera quelque chose de nouveau. Il s’agit d’un
programme par opposition a un projet. La durée des programmes
qui doivent étre renouvelés varie entre deux et cinq ans. Nous
avons un programme qui est sur le point d’étre renouvelé et sa
période quinquennale prend fin le 31 mars 2008. Chaque
ministére doit présenter des propositions pour le renouvellement
de ces programmes. Nous sommes a élaborer une telle proposition
que nous présenterons au ministre.

Le sénateur Dallaire : J’ai consacré quatre ans de ma carriére a
la gestion de projets et aux acquisitions d’immobilisations au
MDN. Cela ressemble 4 un grand projet de I’Etat. Je me demande
seulement a quel point votre « stratégie » est développée pour
défendre ce programme qui doit étre renouvelé. Nous sommes au
mois de novembre et le budget doit étre présenté en février; on a
probablement demandé en septembre de déposer les propositions
budgétaires. Ou en étes-vous rendus avec cette demande de 600
millions de dollars, ou allez-vous demander plus?

Mme Cram : Je dirais que nous sommes avancés pour ce qui
est de I’élaboration des propositions. En régle générale, le délai
visé par les ministéres, c’est de présenter une proposition au
Cabinet avant les vacances de Noél dans I’espoir qu’elle soit
incluse dans un budget subséquent. Notre objectif consiste a
déposer notre proposition au Cabinet avant Noél.

Le sénateur Dallaire : Avez-vous préparé un mémoire au
Cabinet?

Mme Cram : Nous y travaillons.

Le sénateur Dallaire : Cela semble un peu tard dans I’exercice,
particulierement si vous dites que la stratégie est toujours en
évolution. Vous cherchez encore de nouvelles méthodologies
pour, en fait, fournir cette capacité. Il me semble que vous étes un
peu en retard, mais je ne connais pas votre ministére aussi bien
que les autres.
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I have a question about contracting out and a concern about
expertise and training people, and so on. Why is the whole process
not contracted out in a national omnibus capability with,
perhaps, local particular arrangements so that we can hold
contractors accountable — or you can.

Is there a national contracting out methodology that oversights
it and then you have some problem areas, or is every contract
creating these 197, or other problems?

Mr. Brooks: There is not an overall omnibus approach. Since
we are working with our First Nation stakeholders, there are
different approaches. In Alberta, there is an Aboriginal technical
services group that provides engineering services. We have
worked with them. We have provided the funding to this group,
who have worked with the Circuit Rider Training Program. As I
mentioned before, the Circuit Rider Training Program was an
autonomous organization and was not knitted into a national
organization. We are striving to go down that road with the
circuit rider group. Individual approaches are used. Various
organizations offer the training: In Ontario, there is a training
centre near Walkerton and in Edmonton, the Northern Alberta
Institute of Technology offers training also.

Senator Dallaire: If you contract it out, they should be
providing the training. Are you contracting out turnkey
operations or portions of it and then you have to fill in other
things such as a training or emergency program? Does the
contracting out cover all of that, or do you have to fill in the gaps?

Mr. Brooks: In essence, most of the funding, as Ms. Cram
explained, has devolved to the First Nation communities. In this
case, many of the individuals are responsible for their own
training. They are provided funding for their training.

Senator Dallaire: How can we hold you accountable? There is a
bit of a problem here. We cannot crucify them if it is local. Are
they getting enough money to do the job? Are they being had by
the contractors and maybe we should be beating on other doors?
Again, it is part of my education, and I do not want to push that
envelope too much.

I would like to come to the question of provinces and the First
Nations. Why would we even want to talk to provinces about
their concerns with First Nations? Why should we be worried
about meeting provincial water standards or water requirements,
when we are fundamentally talking about a federal responsibility
towards people who are turning to the federal government for
capabilities? We have a department that is being held accountable
for that. What role does the province play in this exercise?

Ms. Cram: That is a very good question about the province. I
will speak specifically to the province vis-a-vis water.

J’ai une question sur la sous-traitance et une préoccupation
concernant le savoir-faire et la formation des gens, et cetera.
Pourquoi I’ensemble du processus n’est-il pas confié en sous-
traitance dans le cadre d’un mécanisme global a 1’échelle nationale
avec, peut-étre, des ententes locales particuliéres pour que nous
puissions — ou que vous puissiez — tenir les entrepreneurs
responsables?

Y a-t-il une méthodologie nationale relativement a la sous-
traitance pour assurer la surveillance, ou existe-t-il un contrat
pour chacun de ces 197 systémes ou autres problémes?

M. Brooks : Il n’y a pas d’approche globale. Comme nous
travaillons avec nos intervenants des Premiéres nations, il existe
différentes approches. En Alberta, un groupe d’Autochtones offre
des services d’ingénierie. Nous avons collaboré avec eux. Nous
avons fourni du financement a ce groupe, qui a travaillé avec le
Programme de formation itinérante. Comme je I'ai déja
mentionné, le Programme de formation itinérante était un
organisme indépendant qui n’a pas été affilié a une organisation
nationale. Nous nous effor¢ons de nous engager dans cette voie
avec le Programme de formation itinérante. Diverses
organisations offrent la formation : en Ontario, il y a un centre
de formation prés de Walkerton et, a Edmonton, le Northern
Alberta Institute of Technology.

Le sénateur Dallaire : Si vous faites appel a des sous-traitants,
ils devraient offrir la formation. Sous-traitez-vous des opérations
clés en main ou seulement des parties, auquel cas vous devez vous
occuper d’autres choses, comme offrir une formation ou un
programme d’urgence? La sous-traitance couvre-t-elle tout cela,
ou devez-vous combler les trous?

M. Brooks : Essentiellement, la majeure partie du financement,
comme I’a expliqué Mme Cram, a été transférée aux collectivités
des Premiéres nations. Dans le cas qui nous occupe, un grand
nombre des personnes sont responsables de leur propre
formation. On leur offre du financement pour leur formation.

Le sénateur Dallaire : Comment pouvons-nous vous demander
de rendre des comptes? Il y a un petit probléme ici. Nous ne
pouvons pas les crucifier si c’est a 1’échelon local. Regoivent-elles
suffisamment d’argent pour faire le travail? Se font-elles avoir par
les sous-traitants et devraient-elles peut-étre frapper a d’autres
portes? La encore, cela fait partie de mon parcours, et je ne veux
pas trop pousser la limite.

J’aimerais aborder la question des provinces et des Premiéres
nations. Pourquoi voudrions-nous méme discuter avec les
provinces de leurs préoccupations concernant les Premieres
nations? Pourquoi devrions-nous nous inquiéter de respecter des
normes ou des exigences provinciales sur I’eau, alors que nous
discutons fondamentalement d’une responsabilité fédérale a
I’égard de gens qui sollicitent 1’aide du gouvernement fédéral
pour se doter de capacités? Nous avons un ministére qui en est
responsable. Quel role la province joue-t-elle dans cet exercice?

Mme Cram : C’est une excellente question concernant la
responsabilité provinciale. Je vais parler plus précisément du
role de la province par rapport a I'eau.
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First, it is important that the water standards on reserve are
what would be compatible with the standards found off reserve,
because water does not stay in one place but moves from place to
place. You need to have a consistent approach. Second, in a
number of cases First Nations obtain their water from the near by
municipal systems. To meet the water needs of a community, you
ask: Is there some capacity that is in the nearby community? They
then enter into service agreements with the municipality with the
provision of that water. You would want the same kind of
standard to be operating in that municipality as you would for it
operating on reserve. You would not want different levels of
testing or whatever.

Senator Dallaire: Maybe, if you can provide something better
than the community that does not have the tax base to do it, of
course you would want to do it. If it is not on the negative side,
but on the positive side, why not? If we have the capability of
providing something better, why not do it? Like protecting the
sources of water, why not do that too, to a better level than the
province or the local municipality.

Ms. Cram: You could, but we would not want to make it
impossible for a First Nation community to purchase its water
from a municipality because it did not meet a federal standard
that we deem to be higher than the provincial standard.

Senator Dallaire: That might be an extreme scenario, but I am
very leery of provincial arrangements within the federal
structures. I am not convinced that the federal-provincial
interface is necessarily a positive one — not only for water but
also for the social programs. On the one hand, they say that the
federal government is taking care of them; while on the other
hand, they say we cannot move because there is a provincial
standard.

I would be far more interested in working with the federal side.
We will take care of that and we will see how the provincial side
works out and not be constrained by that. That is a back-drop to
my question.

Ms. Cram: I wish to use education as an example and talk
about why it is important to work closely with the provinces.
About 50 per cent of the children who are normally residents on
reserve go to school off reserve. This is common at the secondary
school level because many First Nation communities are too small
to have a high school. If they are in a very isolated region, then
they would probably have a school that goes kindergarten to
Grade 12. However, if they are closer to urban areas, the children
would normally go to a provincial high school. Therefore,
50 per cent of the kids are going to school in provincial schools.
We need to work very closely with the province because, at the
end of the day, we want the kids that graduate either from the on-
reserve school or the provincial school to be able to be recognized
by that province as reaching Grade 12 and be able to be accepted
into post-secondary institutions. I offer that as an example of why
we have to work closely with provinces.

Premieérement, il est important que les normes sur I’eau dans les
réserves soient compatibles avec celles a I’extérieur des réserves,
car I’eau ne reste pas a un seul endroit, mais se déplace. Il faut de
I'uniformité. Deuxiémement, dans un certain nombre de cas, les
Premiéres nations s’approvisionnent en eau dans les réseaux
d’aqueduc municipaux avoisinants. Pour répondre aux besoins
en eau d’une collectivité, il faut se poser la question suivante :
existe-t-il une capacité dans la collectivité voisine? Les Premiéres
nations concluent ensuite des ententes de services avec la
municipalit¢ pour qu’elle les approvisionne en eau. Vous
voudriez que le méme type de norme soit en place dans cette
municipalité que dans la réserve. Vous ne voudriez pas des normes
différentes pour analyser 1’eau, par exemple.

Le sénateur Dallaire : Peut-étre, si vous pouvez fournir quelque
chose de mieux que la collectivité qui n’a pas l’assiette fiscale
nécessaire, vous voudrez évidemment le faire. Si c’est pour le
mieux et non pas pour le pire, pourquoi pas? Si nous avons la
capacité d’offrir quelque chose de mieux, pourquoi ne pas le faire?
Pourquoi ne pas aussi assurer une protection des cours d’eau plus
grande que la province ou la municipalité?

Mme Cram : C’est possible, mais nous ne voudrions pas
empécher une collectivité des Premiéres nations d’acheter son
eau d’une municipalité parce qu’elle n’a pas respecté une norme
fédérale que nous jugeons plus élevée que la norme provinciale.

Le sénateur Dallaire : C’est peut-&tre un scénario extréme, mais
je me méfie beaucoup des ententes provinciales conclues au sein
des structures fédérales. Je ne suis pas convaincu que l'interaction
fédérale-provinciale soit nécessairement constructive — non
seulement pour 1’eau, mais également pour les programmes
sociaux. D’une part, elles disent que le gouvernement fédéral
s’occupe d’elles et, d’autre part, elles soutiennent qu’il ne peut pas
intervenir a cause d’une norme provinciale.

Je serais beaucoup plus intéressé a travailler avec le fédéral.
Nous nous en chargerons et verrons comment le provincial
progresse sans étre limités par cela. C’est une toile de fond a ma
question.

Mme Cram : J’aimerais utiliser 'exemple de I’éducation pour
expliquer pourquoi il est important de travailler étroitement avec
les provinces. Environ 50 p. 100 des enfants qui vivent
habituellement dans une réserve fréquentent une école située
hors-réserve. C’est fréquent au niveau secondaire, car un grand
nombre de collectivités des Premiéres nations sont trop petites
pour avoir une école secondaire. Si elles sont situées dans une
région trés isolée, elles ont probablement une école offrant la
maternelle jusqu’a la 12° année. Toutefois, si elles sont plus prés
des régions urbaines, les enfants iront normalement a une école
secondaire provinciale. Par conséquent, 50 p. 100 des enfants
fréquentent des écoles provinciales. Nous devons travailler trés
étroitement avec la province parce qu’au bout du compte, nous
voulons que les diplomes d’études secondaires obtenus par les
enfants dans une école située dans une réserve ou une école
provinciale soient reconnus par la province pour qu’ils puissent
étre admis dans des établissements postsecondaires. Je cite cet
exemple uniquement pour illustrer pourquoi nous devons
travailler étroitement avec les provinces.
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Senator Dallaire: I agree with “in collaboration with,” and so
on, but not necessarily “in subordination thereof,” or held to
ransom by them. If it suits our needs, fine. If it does not, we
should be sorting it out ourselves. I find that when we try to be
too much with the provinces, we tend to devalue ourselves to a
standard that may not be that good, and we could be better by
investing more. My bottom line is that $9.7 billion in good
American language “ain’t that much” for one million people in a
country that we are holding near colonial rules. Certainly, I will
be working on that.

The Chair: That is good news. Perhaps you will get more
money.

Mr. Brooks, you said that you were in the process of doing an
assessment.

Mr. Brooks: We are finalizing the terms of reference.

The Chair: The first recommendation in the committee’s report
was that DIAND provide a professional audit of the water system
facilities. Have you done anything in respect of that matter?

Mr. Brooks: These are the terms of reference to which I
referred.

The Chair: This is tied in with the assessment.

Mr. Brooks: Yes. If I may, senator, every three years we
undertake a review of each system, doing one third each year, in
what is referred to as our assets condition reporting division. We
look at the assets and we go in depth beyond just the systems to
the operation and maintenance aspects looking for the right
solution for the community.

The Chair: You are making progress but I hear from colleagues
tonight that there has to be a sense of urgency. If, in the one of the
richest countries in the world that is generating wealth at an
astronomical rate, we cannot give everybody safe drinking water
then there is a problem. I cannot go to bed at night and sleep
while I sit on a committee that is part of the federal system that
has the fiduciary responsibility to First Nations people.
Everybody should have safe drinking water, First Nations or
tourists. Everyone is entitled to safe drinking water in a rich
country like ours.

Ms. Cram said something in respect of sufficient funding for
this initiative. We cannot have another Kashechewan. I do not
care who is in government, whether the NDP, the Bloc, the
Conservatives or the Liberals, such an incident is unacceptable to
Canadians. I am trying to relay the urgency that Senator
Sibbeston relayed to you. I cannot believe that we are not
further down the road on this assessment. Perhaps you are not the
right people for us to talk to about this but I hope you are. As
Senator Dallaire said, the department is complex and matters

Le sénateur Dallaire : Je suis d’accord avec I'idée de
« collaboration », et cetera, mais pas forcément avec celle de
« subordination », ou d’étre a leur merci. Si cela fait notre affaire,
tant mieux. Autrement, nous devrions régler le probléme nous-
mémes. A mon avis, quand nous essayons de trop collaborer avec
les provinces, nous avons tendance a nous abaisser a une norme
qui n’est peut-étre pas adéquate, et nous ferions mieux d’investir
davantage. Bref, 9,7 milliards de dollars, en bon québécois, ne
sont pas « les gros chars » pour un million de personnes dans un
pays que l’on maintient pratiquement comme a I’époque
coloniale. Je travaillerai certainement a ce dossier.

Le président : C’est une bonne nouvelle. Vous obtiendrez
peut-étre plus de financement.

Monsieur Brooks, vous avez dit que vous étes en train de faire
une évaluation.

M. Brooks : Nous mettons la derniére main au cadre de
référence.

Le président : La premieére recommandation du rapport du
comité demandait a AINC d’effectuer une vérification
professionnelle de I’infrastructure du service
d’approvisionnement en eau. Avez-vous fait quoi que ce soit en
ce sens?

M. Brooks : C’est le cadre de référence dont j’ai parlé.

Le président : C’est li¢ a 1’évaluation.

M. Brooks : Oui. Si vous le permettez, sénateur, notre division
chargée de faire rapport sur I’état des ressources inspecte le tiers
des systémes chaque année. Nous examinons en profondeur les
ressources, en ne faisant pas que vérifier le fonctionnement et
I’entretien des systémes, mais aussi en tentant de trouver la bonne
solution pour la collectivité.

Le président : Vous réalisez des progreés, mais d’aprés ce que
disent mes collégues ce soir, il doit y avoir un sentiment d’urgence.
Si, dans I'un des pays les plus riches au monde qui génére de la
richesse a un rythme phénoménal, nous ne pouvons pas
approvisionner tous les résidents en eau potable, il y a un
probléme. Je ne peux pas dormir sur mes deux oreilles tout en
siégeant a un comité faisant partie du systeme fédéral qui a une
responsabilité fiduciaire a I’égard des Premiéres nations. Tout le
monde devrait avoir accés a de I’eau potable, que ce soit les
Premiéres nations ou les touristes. Tout le monde a le droit
d’avoir acceés a de I’eau potable dans un pays riche comme le
notre.

Mme Cram a parlé du financement suffisant pour cette
initiative. On ne peut pas se permettre un autre Kashechewan.
Peu importe qui est au pouvoir, que ce soit le NPD, le Bloc, les
conservateurs ou les libéraux, un incident de ce genre est
inacceptable au Canada. J’essaie de transmettre le message
d’urgence que le sénateur Sibbeston vous a transmis. Je ne peux
pas croire que nous ne soyons pas plus avancés dans cette
évaluation. Vous n’étes peut-étre pas les bonnes personnes a qui
nous devons nous adresser, mais jespére que vous I’étes.
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are so scattered that I can only hope that our message is getting
through. When you complete the assessment, I would ask you to
make a copy of it available to the committee as soon as possible.

Senator Peterson: First, I do not think we are talking about the
assessment but rather about the terms of reference and then
another 18 months to complete the terms of reference. Is that
right?

Mr. Brooks: No.

Senator Peterson: When do you think you will complete the
terms of reference.

Mr. Brooks: It will be complete within the next few weeks. This
will be publicly tendered so we have to go through a process.

Senator Peterson: Then, things will begin to happen. In the
interim, do you do crisis management if a problem occurs? Do
you have to jump in and solve it ahead of this report?

Mr. Brooks: With the oversight that has been put into place,
the crisis management circumstances of that have been mitigated
quite a bit. Our department is involved if a water issue arises in a
community. Ms. Cram has demonstrated that the oversight has
produced fairly successful results.

Senator Peterson: Could the committee have an interim report
every six months to know how this is going rather than wait
18 months?

Mr. Brooks: We would be more than happy to put this in the
terms of reference to determine whether we can have an interim
report every six months.

Senator Dallaire: Because of the water scenario and many other
factors, would legislation on safe water for First Nations
guarantee your funding base? Would that not be more positive
than trying to work it on a five-year annual program, which can
or cannot work in applying this side of the problem?

Ms. Cram: Legislation would be a positive development.
Whether it would ensure the money would depend on how the
legislation is written. One option would be to write the conditions
into the legislation; it might be a way to ensure that you have
adequate funding.

Senator Dallaire: Is that being proposed to the minister? Is the
Policy Branch in your department looking at that option?

Ms. Cram: We have not come that far along with the
legislation because, in keeping with the report, we are looking
at the matter of consultation first.

The Chair: I thank the witnesses for appearing this evening and
compliment them for standing firm in these trying times because
this could be a volatile issue. There is no doubt that

Comme l’a dit le sénateur Dallaire, le ministére est complexe et
les questions sont si disséminées que je ne peux qu’espérer que
notre message passe. Quand vous terminerez I’évaluation, je vous
demanderais d’en faire parvenir une copie au comité le plus tot
possible.

Le sénateur Peterson : Tout d’abord, je ne crois pas que nous
parlions de I’évaluation, mais plutét du cadre de référence et il
faudra encore 18 mois pour ’achever. Est-ce exact?

M. Brooks : Non.

Le sénateur Peterson : Quand pensez-vous le terminer?

M. Brooks : Au cours des prochaines semaines. Comme il
s’agira d’un appel d’offres public, nous devons suivre une
procédure.

Le sénateur Peterson : Par la suite, les choses commenceront a
bouger. Entre-temps, faites-vous de la gestion des crises en cas de
probléme? Devez-vous intervenir et le régler avant la publication
du rapport?

M. Brooks : En raison de la surveillance qui a été mise en
place, les cas de gestion des crises ont beaucoup diminué. Notre
ministére intervient si un probléme touchant I’eau survient dans
une collectivité. Mme Cram a démontré que la surveillance a
donné d’assez bons résultats.

Le sénateur Peterson : Plutot que d’attendre 18 mois, le comité
pourrait-il recevoir un rapport d’étape tous les six mois pour
connaitre I’évolution du dossier?

M. Brooks : Nous serions plus qu’heureux de le préciser dans le
cadre de référence.

Le sénateur Dallaire : En raison du probléme lié a I'eau et de
nombreux autres facteurs, une loi sur I’eau potable pour les
Premiéres nations garantirait-elle votre financement de base?
Serait-ce plus constructif que de travailler a un programme annuel
quinquennal, qui peut ou non réussir a régler cette facette du
probléme?

Mme Cram : La loi serait une mesure constructive. Quant a
savoir si les fonds seront garantis, cela dépendra du libellé de la
loi. Une solution serait d’énoncer les conditions dans la loi; ce
pourrait étre une fagon de vous assurer de recevoir le financement
adéquat.

Le sénateur Dallaire : L’a-t-on proposé au ministre? La
Direction générale des politiques de votre ministére examine-t-
elle cette possibilité?

Mme Cram : Nous ne sommes pas rendus a ce point
concernant la loi parce que, conformément aux
recommandations du rapport, nous étudions d’abord la
question de consultation.

Le président : Je remercie les témoins d’avoir comparu ce soir et
les félicite d’avoir défendu avec fermeté leur position dans cette
période difficile, car la question aurait pu étre explosive. Il ne fait
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this committee has taken the matter seriously. The message to
Indian and Northern Affairs is that we have to notch it up a gear
or four to produce some results sooner rather than later.

Again, thank you for your patience and understanding.

The committee adjourned.

aucun doute que notre comité prend la question au sérieux. Notre
message a l'intention du ministére des Affaires indiennes et du
Nord Canada est le suivant : nous devons prendre les bouchées
doubles pour arriver a des résultats le plus tot possible.

Encore une fois, je vous remercie de votre patience et de votre
compréhension.

La séance est levée.
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